

The general class of Wasserstein Sobolev spaces: density of cylinder functions, reflexivity, uniform convexity and Clarkson's inequalities

Giacomo Enrico Sodini¹

Received: 22 December 2022 / Accepted: 25 July 2023 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{}}$ The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

We show that the algebra of cylinder functions in the Wasserstein Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}}, \mathsf{m})$ generated by a finite and positive Borel measure \mathfrak{m} on the (p, d) -Wasserstein space $(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}})$ on a complete and separable metric space (X, d) is dense in energy. As an application, we prove that, in case the underlying metric space is a separable Banach space \mathbb{B} , then the Wasserstein Sobolev space is reflexive (resp. uniformly convex) if \mathbb{B} is reflexive (resp. if the dual of \mathbb{B} is uniformly convex). Finally, we also provide sufficient conditions for the validity of Clarkson's type inequalities in the Wasserstein Sobolev space.

Mathematics Subject Classification Primary 46E36 · 49Q22 ; Secondary 46B10 · 46B20

Contents

1	Introduction	
2	Metric Sobolev spaces and density of subalgebras	
3	Wasserstein spaces	
	3.1 Estimates for Kantorovich potentials in $(\mathbb{R}^d, \ \cdot\)$	
4	The Wasserstein Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, d), W_{p,d}, \mathfrak{m})$	
	4.1 Cylinder functions on (X, d) and their differential in Banach spaces $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	
	4.2 The density result in $(\mathbb{R}^d, \ \cdot\)$ for any norm	
	4.3 The density result in (X, d)	
5	Reflexivity, uniform convexity and Clarkson's inequalities	
	5.1 Clarkson's type inequalities	
Re	References	

Communicated by Andrea Mondino.

Giacomo Enrico Sodini giacomo.sodini@univie.ac.at

¹ Institut für Mathematik - Fakultät für Mathematik, Universität Wien, Oskar-Morgenstern-Platz 1, 1090 Wien, Austria

1 Introduction

G. E. Sodini

The study of Sobolev spaces on metric measure spaces is a well established area of interest in metric geometry, we refer to [18, 19, 22, 25] for a general treatment of the subject. It is thus important to provide examples (as concrete as possible) of such Sobolev spaces built on relevant metric spaces; the study carried out in [12] goes precisely in this direction: the authors analyze the properties of the 2-Sobolev space on the 2-Wasserstein space [2, 24, 29, 30] of probability measures on a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} .

Let us also mention that, besides being interesting from a purely theoretical point of view, the study of Sobolev spaces on spaces of probability measures has also important applications to functional analysis over spaces of probability measures. Indeed, problems such as evolutionary games or Kolmogorov equations in nonlinear filtering have been treated so far by classical notions of solutions, lacking weak formulations. In this regard, providing a functional analytic framework in which to set those problems may be very relevant. We refer to the introduction of [12] for a more detailed list of applications and references.

In this work we generalize the results in [12] considering a general complete and separable metric space (X, d), instead of a Hilbert space, and we treat general exponents p, q both in the order of the Wasserstein distance and in the Sobolev space (instead of p = q = 2). Before entering into the details of the present work, let us briefly recall the definition of metric Sobolev space and the results of [12] that are the starting point for our analysis.

Among the possible approaches to Sobolev spaces on metric measure spaces (for example the Newtonian one [5, 26]), here we focus on the approach, strictly related to the ideas of Cheeger [7], that is contained in the work of Ambrosio, Gigli and Savaré [4] where they define the following concept of q-relaxed ($q \in (1, +\infty)$) gradient: given a metric measure space (X, d, m), we say that $G \in L^q(X, m)$ is a q-relaxed gradient of $f \in L^0(X, m)$ if there exist a sequence $(f_n)_n \subset \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ and $\tilde{G} \in L^q(X, m)$ such that

(1) $f_n \to f \text{ in } L^0(X, \mathfrak{m}) \text{ and } \operatorname{lip}_{\mathsf{d}} f \to \tilde{G} \text{ in } L^q(X, \mathfrak{m}),$ (2) $\tilde{G} < G \mathfrak{m}$ -a.e. in X,

where, for $f \in \text{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$, the asymptotic Lipschitz constant of f is defined as

$$\lim_{y,z \to x, \ y \neq z} \limsup_{\substack{|f(y) - f(z)| \\ \mathsf{d}(y, z)}} f(x) \in X.$$
(1.1)

The *q*-Cheeger energy of $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ is then defined as

$$\mathbb{C}_q(f) := \int_X |\mathbf{D}f|^q_{\star,q} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m},$$

where $|Df|_{\star,q}$ is the minimal relaxed gradient of f i.e. the element of minimal norm in the set of relaxed gradients of f. It is well known that the q-Cheeger energy can be also characterized as the relaxation of the so called pre-q-Cheeger energy

$$\mathsf{pCE}_q(f) := \int_X (\operatorname{lip}_{\mathsf{d}} f)^q \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad f \in \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d}),$$

in the sense that

$$\mathbb{C}_{q}(f) = \inf \left\{ \liminf_{n \to +\infty} \mathsf{p}\mathbb{C}_{q}(f_{n}) : (f_{n})_{n} \subset \mathrm{Lip}_{b}(X, \mathsf{d}), \ f_{n} \to f \text{ in } L^{0}(X, \mathfrak{m}) \right\}.$$
(1.2)

🖄 Springer

The Sobolev space \dot{a} la Cheeger $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ is thus the vector space of functions $f \in L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ with finite Cheeger energy endowed with the norm

$$|f|_{H^{1,q}(X,\mathsf{d},\mathfrak{m})}^{q} := \int_{X} |f|^{q} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} + \mathsf{C}\!\mathsf{E}_{q}(f)$$

which makes it a Banach space. A remarkable result [4] is the so called strong approximation property by Lipschitz functions: if $f \in H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ then there exists a sequence $(f_n)_n \subset \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$ such that

$$f_n \to f, \quad \lim_{\mathsf{d}} f_n \to |\mathsf{D}f|_{\star,q} \text{ in } L^q(X, \mathfrak{m}).$$
 (1.3)

In [12] the authors provide a general criterion for the validity of the same property where, instead of the whole $\operatorname{Lip}_b(X, d)$, the approximating sequence can be taken from a suitable subalgebra $\mathscr{A} \subset \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, d)$ satisfying

$$\mathbb{1} \in \mathscr{A}$$
, for every $x_0, x_1 \in X$ there exists $f \in \mathscr{A}$: $f(x_0) \neq f(x_1)$,

where $1: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is the constant function equal to 1. This is equivalent to say that \mathscr{A} is *dense in energy in the Sobolev space*. In particular (see Theorem 2.9 below or [12, Theorem 2.12] for the proof) it is proven that an equivalent condition is that for every $y \in X$ it holds

$$|\mathsf{Dd}_{y}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} \le 1 \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e. in } X, \tag{1.4}$$

where $d_y(x)$: = d(x, y) and $|D \cdot |_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}$ is a suitably \mathscr{A} -adapted notion of minimal relaxed gradient (cf. Definition 2.1). The second part of [12] is devoted to apply the criterion in (1.4) to the L^2 -Kantorovich-Rubinstein-Wasserstein (in brief, Wasserstein) space on a separable Hilbert space \mathbb{H} , denoted by ($\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{H}), W_2$), with the algebra $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}), C_b^1(\mathbb{H}))$ of cylinder functions (cf. Definition 4.1), which is the algebra of functions of the form

$$F(\mu) = \psi\left(\int_{\mathbb{H}} \phi_1 d\mu, \dots, \int_{\mathbb{H}} \phi_N d\mu\right), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}),$$
(1.5)

where $\psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi_n \in C_b^1(\mathbb{H})$ for $n = 1, ..., N \in \mathbb{N}$. The density of $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}), C_b^1(\mathbb{H}))$ in $H^{1,2}(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{H}), W_2, \mathfrak{m})$ (here \mathfrak{m} is a finite and positive Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{H})$) is particularly interesting since cylinder functions come already with some structure; in particular to any function F as in (1.5) we can associate a notion of gradient given by

$$DF(\mu, x) := \sum_{n=1}^{N} \partial_n \psi \left(\int_{\mathbb{H}} \phi_1 d\mu, \dots, \int_{\mathbb{H}} \phi_N d\mu \right) \nabla \phi_n(x), \quad (\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}) \times \mathbb{H}.$$
(1.6)

It is proven in [12, Proposition 4.9] that, for every $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{H}), \mathbb{C}^1_h(\mathbb{H}))$, we have

$$\mathsf{pCE}_2(F) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{H}) \times \mathbb{H}} |\mathsf{D}F(\mu, x)|^2 \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu), \tag{1.7}$$

so that the pre-Cheeger energy satisfies the parallelogram identity (cf. [12, Subsection 4.2]) and thus forces the Cheeger energy to be a quadratic form. This amounts to say that the Sobolev space $H^{1,2}(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{H}), W_2, \mathfrak{m})$ is a Hilbert space, a crucial property in the theory of metric Sobolev spaces [4, 14, 21, 27, 28].

The aim of this work is, following the approach of [12], to study the properties of the more general class of Wasserstein Sobolev spaces $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ $(p, q \in (1, +\infty))$, where $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ is a separable Banach space, $(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}})$ is the $(p, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ -Wasserstein space on it and \mathfrak{m} is positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. First of

all, in Proposition 4.7 we provide a generalization of the representation in (1.7): if *F* is a cylinder function in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B})$ as in (1.5), then

$$\mathsf{pCE}_{q}(F) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}} \|\mathsf{D}F(\mu,x)\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \right)^{q/p'} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu), \tag{1.8}$$

where p' = p/(p-1) is the conjugate exponent of p, $\|\cdot\|_*$ is the dual norm in \mathbb{B}^* and DF is adapted from (1.6) in the obvious way. Notice that, differently from the representation (1.7), the right hand side of (1.8) doesn't coincide with the *q*-th power of a L^q norm on a suitable space but it is rather the *q*-th power of the norm in the L^q -direct integral of a family of Banach spaces (see Sect. 5 for more details).

Approaching first the case in which $\mathbb{B} = \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\|\cdot\|$ is a sufficiently regular norm on \mathbb{R}^d (cf.(3.3)), we are able to prove the density of $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathbb{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ in the corresponding Sobolev space (first part of Theorem 4.15) adapting the techniques of [12] (in particular using (1.4) and the representation in (1.8)) to this more general situation: this requires more sophisticated results (which may be interesting by themselves) in terms of the properties of Kantorovich potentials which are no longer convex if $p \neq 2$ (see Sect. 3.1).

The density of cylinder functions is then extended to the Sobolev-Wasserstien space corresponding to an arbitrary norm on \mathbb{R}^d by an approximation procedure and then to an arbitrary separable Banach space $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ via a standard embedding technique in $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$ and finite dimensional projections (second part of Theorem 4.15 and Corollary 4.19, respectively). The precise statement of the result is the following.

Theorem 1.1 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space; then the algebra of cylinder functions $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_h^1(\mathbb{B}))$ is dense in *q*-energy in the Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$.

Let us also mention that we are able to extend the density result (Theorem 4.18) to an arbitrary complete and separable metric space (X, d) where, instead of using C_b^1 functions (which of course are not available) to generate cylinder functions on $\mathcal{P}(X)$, we consider a sequence $(\phi_k)_k \subset \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ such that

$$\mathsf{d}(x, y) = \sup_{k} |\phi_k(x) - \phi_k(y)|, \text{ for every } x, y \in X,$$

and we use the smallest unital algebra containing $(\phi_k)_k$.

In the same spirit of the Hilbertianity result in [12], we are led to study which properties of the Banach space \mathbb{B} are transferred to the Sobolev space, thanks to the density of cylinder functions provided by the above Theorem 1.1. This is the case of uniform convexity and the validity of some Clarkson's type inequalities. The argument we adopt for such properties is similar: since the pre-Cheeger energy of a cylinder function as in (1.8) corresponds to the *q*-th power of a norm in a suitable Banach space, it is sufficient to prove that such norm enjoys the uniform convexity (resp. the validity of Clarkson's type inequalities) to obtain that the pre-Cheeger satisfies the same property; thanks to the density of cylinder functions such a property is extended to the Cheeger energy and thus to the whole Sobolev norm (Theorems 5.4 and 5.10). For what concerns reflexivity the argument is somehow standard: again using the representation of the pre-Cheeger energy in (1.8), we can isometrically embed the Sobolev space into a reflexive Banach space (Theorem 5.2). The precise statement regarding reflexivity and uniform convexity is reported below (we refer to Sect. 5.1 for the results related to Clarkson's type inequalities).

Theorem 1.2 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space. If \mathbb{B} is reflexive (resp. its dual is uniformly convex), then the Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ is reflexive (resp. uniformly convex).

Plan of the paper In Sect. 2 we summarize the construction of metric Sobolev spaces depending on a subalgebra of Lipschitz and bounded functions \mathscr{A} and we report a few results of [12] concerning the density in energy of \mathscr{A} . The beginning of Sect. 3 contains the general framework for Wasserstein spaces we are going to work with and Sect. 3.1 presents some compactness results for Kantorovich potentials in a specific geometric situation: these results combine the ideas of [11, 13] to provide useful Lipschitz estimates on the potentials. Section 4 contains the core of our density results: after stating the definition of cylinder functions in the framework of a metric space (*X*, d), in Sect. 4.1, we study the asymptotic Lipschitz constant of a cylinder function (Proposition 4.7); in Sect. 4.2 we prove the density result when the base space is \mathbb{R}^d endowed with an arbitrary norm (Theorem 4.15); in Sect. 4.3 we generalize this result to a complete and separable metric space (*X*, d) (Theorem 4.18). Finally, in Sect. 5 we prove that relevant properties of the underlying Banach space pass to the Sobolev space: first we treat reflexivity and uniform convexity (Theorems 5.2, 5.4) and then we study Clarkson's type inequalities in Sect. 5.1 (see in particular Theorem 5.10).

2 Metric Sobolev spaces and density of subalgebras

In this section we describe the general metric setting and we list a few results of [12] which are the starting point of our analysis. For this whole section, we fix a separable metric space (X, d), a finite and positive Borel measure m on (X, d) (the triple (X, d, m) is called a Polish metric-measure space), an exponent $q \in (1, +\infty)$ and a unital and separating subalgebra $\mathscr{A} \subset \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, d)$ i.e. satisfying

$$\mathbb{1} \in \mathscr{A}$$
, for every $x_0, x_1 \in X$ there exists $f \in \mathscr{A}$: $f(x_0) \neq f(x_1)$, (2.1)

where $\operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$ is the space of real valued and bounded d -Lipschitz functions on X and $\mathbb{1}: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is the constant function equal to 1.

If (Y, d_Y) is another complete and separable metric space and $f : X \to Y$ is a Borel function, we define the finite (with the same total mass of \mathfrak{m}) and Borel measure $f_{\sharp}\mathfrak{m}$ on (Y, d_Y) as

$$f_{\sharp}\mathfrak{m}(B) = \mathfrak{m}(f^{-1}(B))$$
 for every Borel set $B \subset Y$. (2.2)

We define the d-asymptotic Lipschitz constant of $f \in \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ as

$$\lim_{x \to 0} f(x) := \lim_{r \downarrow 0} \operatorname{Lip}(f, \mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{d}}(x, r), \mathsf{d}) = \lim_{y, z \to x, y \neq z} \frac{|f(y) - f(z)|}{\mathsf{d}(y, z)}, \quad x \in X,$$
(2.3)

where $B_d(x, r) \subset X$ denotes the d-open ball centered at x with radius r > 0 and, for $A \subset X$, the quantity Lip(f, A, d) is defined as

$$Lip(f, A, d): = \sup_{x, y \in A, x \neq y} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{d(x, y)}.$$

We denote by $L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ the space of real valued and Borel measurable functions on X, identified up to equality m-a.e. and, analogously, by $L^r(X, \mathfrak{m})$ the usual Lebesgue spaces of real valued, *r*-summable and Borel measurable functions, identified up to equality m-a.e., $r \in [1, +\infty]$. We endow $L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ with the topology of the convergence in m-measure, while $L^r(X, \mathfrak{m})$ is endowed with the usual norm, $r \in [1, +\infty]$. When dealing with vector-valued or extended real-valued functions we also specify the codomain in the notation for L^r -spaces, i.e. we write $L^r(X, \mu; Y)$, where Y is a (subset of a) Banach space. The following is the definition of relaxed gradient we adopt [3, 4, 25] (see also [5, 26] for a different approach).

Definition 2.1 ((q, \mathscr{A})-relaxed gradient) We say that $G \in L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ is a (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient of $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ if there exist a sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathscr{A}$ and $\tilde{G} \in L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ such that:

(1) f_n → f in m-measure and lip_d f_n → G weakly in L^q(X, m);
 (2) G ≤ G m-a.e. in X.

The next result is a simple but important property of relaxed gradients [3, 4, 25].

Theorem 2.2 If $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ has a (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient then there exists a unique element of minimal $L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ -norm in

$$S(f):=\left\{G\in L^q(X,\mathfrak{m}):G \text{ is } a\ (q,\mathscr{A})\text{-relaxed gradient of } f\right\}.$$

Thanks to Theorem 2.2 the next definition is well posed.

Definition 2.3 (Minimal relaxed gradient) Let $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ be such that f has a (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient. Its relaxed gradient with minimal $L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ -norm is denoted by $|Df|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}$ and called minimal (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient of f.

Definition 2.4 (Cheeger energy and Sobolev space) We call $D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ the set of functions in $L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ with a (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient and we define the (q, \mathscr{A}) -Cheeger energy as

$$\mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A}}(f) := \int_{X} |\mathrm{D}f|^{q}_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(x) \quad \text{for every } f \in D^{1,q}(X,\mathsf{d},\mathfrak{m};\mathscr{A}), \qquad (2.4)$$

with $\mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A}}(f)$: = + ∞ if $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m}) \setminus D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$. The Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ is defined as $L^q(X, \mathfrak{m}) \cap D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$. The Sobolev norm of $f \in H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ is defined as

$$\|f\|^q_{H^{1,q}(X,\mathsf{d},\mathfrak{m};\mathscr{A})} := \|f\|^q_{L^q(X,\mathfrak{m})} + \mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A}}(f).$$

In the next theorem we collect a few properties of relaxed gradients and Sobolev spaces that will be useful (for a more comprehensive list and references to the proofs, see [12]).

Theorem 2.5 (1) The set

$$S:=\left\{(f,G)\in L^0(X,\mathfrak{m})\times L^q(X,\mathfrak{m}):G \text{ is a } (q,\mathscr{A}) \text{ -relaxed gradient of } f\right\}$$

is convex and it is closed with respect to to the product topology of the convergence in mmeasure and the weak convergence in $L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$. In particular, the restriction $S_r := S \cap$ $L^r(X, \mathfrak{m}) \times L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ is weakly closed in $L^r(X, \mathfrak{m}) \times L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ for every $r \in (1, +\infty)$.

(2) (Strong approximation) If $f \in D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ takes values in a closed (possibly unbounded) interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ then there exists a sequence $f_n \in \mathscr{A}$ with values in I such that

$$f_n \to f\mathfrak{m}$$
 -a.e. in X, $\lim_{d \to 0} f_n \to |Df|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}$ strongly in $L^q(X,\mathfrak{m})$. (2.5)

If moreover $f \in L^r(X, \mathfrak{m})$ for some $r \in [1, +\infty)$ then we can also find a sequence as in (2.5) converging strongly to f in $L^r(X, \mathfrak{m})$.

(3) (Pointwise minimality) If G is a (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient of $f \in L^0(X, \mathfrak{m})$ then $|Df|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} \leq G \mathfrak{m}$ -a.e. in X.

(4) (Truncations) If $f_j \in D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$, $j = 1, \dots, J$, then also the functions $f_+: = \max(f_1, \dots, f_J)$ and $f_-: = \min(f_1, \dots, f_J)$ have (q, \mathscr{A}) -relaxed gradient and

$$|Df_{+}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} = |Df_{j}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{-a.e. on } \{x \in X : f_{+} = f_{j}\}, \tag{2.6}$$

$$|Df_{-}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} = |Df_{j}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{ -a.e. on } \{x \in X : f_{-} = f_{j}\}.$$

$$(2.7)$$

(5) (Sobolev norm) $(H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A}), \|\cdot\|_{H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})})$ is a Banach space.

Notice that, if $\mathscr{A} = \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$, we will simply use the notations $|\mathsf{D} \cdot|_{\star,q}$, $D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$, $\mathbb{E}_q(\cdot)$, $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ and $\|\cdot\|_{H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})}$ omitting the dependence on \mathscr{A} .

Remark 2.6 (Pre-Cheeger energy and its relaxation) It is well known (see e.g. [25, Corollary 3.1.7]) that for every $r \in \{0\} \cup [1, +\infty)$ it holds that

$$\mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A}}(f) = \inf\left\{\liminf_{n \to +\infty} \mathsf{pC}_{q}(f_{n}) : f_{n} \in \mathscr{A}, \ f_{n} \to f \text{ in } L^{r}(X, \mathfrak{m})\right\}, \quad f \in L^{r}(X, \mathfrak{m}),$$
(2.8)

where the pre-Cheeger energy $p \mathbb{E}_q$: Lip_b(X, d) $\rightarrow [0, +\infty)$ is defined as

$$\mathsf{pCE}_q(f) := \int_X (\operatorname{lip}_{\mathsf{d}} f)^q \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad f \in \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d}). \tag{2.9}$$

The main property we are interested in investigating is the density of the subalgebra \mathscr{A} in the metric Sobolev space.

Definition 2.7 (Density in energy of a subalgebra of Lipschitz functions) We say that $\mathscr{A} \subset \text{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$ is *dense in q-energy* in $D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ if for every $f \in D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ there exists a sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying

$$f_n \in \mathscr{A}, \quad f_n \to f\mathfrak{m}$$
-a.e. in $X, \quad \lim_{d \to q} f_n \to |Df|_{\star,q}$ strongly in $L^q(X,\mathfrak{m}).$ (2.10)

Remark 2.8 It is not difficult to see that Definition 2.7 is equivalent to the equality $D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A}) = D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ with equal minimal relaxed gradients, the equality of the Sobolev spaces $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A}) = H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ with equal norms and the following strong approximation property: for every $f \in H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ there exists a sequence $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying

$$f_n \in \mathscr{A}, \quad f_n \to f \text{ in } L^q(X, \mathfrak{m}), \quad \lim_{d \to q} f_n \to |\mathsf{D}f|_{\star,q} \text{ strongly in } L^q(X, \mathfrak{m}).$$
 (2.11)

The following characterization of the density of a subalgebra of Lipschitz and bounded functions is proven in [12].

Theorem 2.9 Let $Y \subset X$ be a dense subset. Then

for every
$$y \in Y$$
 it holds $\mathsf{d}_y \in D^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A}), |D\mathsf{d}_y|_{\mathsf{t}, \mathfrak{a}, \mathscr{A}} \leq 1$ (2.12)

if and only if \mathscr{A} is dense in q-energy according to Definition 2.7, where the function d_y : $X \to [0, +\infty)$ is defined as

$$\mathsf{d}_{y}(x) := \mathsf{d}(x, y), \quad x \in X.$$

🖄 Springer

3 Wasserstein spaces

We devote the first part of this section to a few general properties of Wasserstein spaces (see [2, 24, 29, 30] for a general review of Optimal Transport). The second part of the section will treat properties of Kantorovich potentials in particular geometric situations. We fix an exponent $p \in (1, +\infty)$ (recall that p' := p/(p-1)) and we remark that all vector spaces (and thus all Banach spaces) are *real* vector spaces.

If (X, d) is a metric space, we denote by $\mathcal{P}(X)$ the space of Borel probability measures on X and by $\mathcal{P}_p(X, d)$ the set

$$\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}) := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(X) : \int_X \mathsf{d}^p(x, x_0) \mathrm{d}\mu(x) < +\infty \text{ for some (and hence for all) } x_0 \in X \right\}.$$

Given $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}(X)$ the set of transport plans between μ and ν is denoted by $\Gamma(\mu, \nu)$ and defined as

$$\Gamma(\mu,\nu) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \mathcal{P}(X \times X) : \pi_{\sharp}^{1} \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \mu, \ \pi_{\sharp}^{2} \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \nu \right\},\$$

where $\pi^i(x_1, x_2) = x_i$ for every $(x_1, x_2) \in X \times X$ and \sharp denotes the push forward operator as in (2.2). The (p, d)-Wasserstein distance $W_{p,d}$ between $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}_p(X, d)$ is defined as

$$W_{p,\mathsf{d}}^{p}(\mu,\nu) := \inf \left\{ \int_{X \times X} \mathsf{d}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma} : \boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\mu,\nu) \right\}.$$

It is well known that the infimum above is attained in a non-empty and convex set $\Gamma_{o,p,d}(\mu, \nu) \subset \Gamma(\mu, \nu)$ and that the (p, d)-Wasserstein space $(\mathcal{P}_p(X, d), W_{p,d})$ is complete and separable, if (X, d) is complete and separable. The Kantorovich duality for the Wasserstein distance states that

$$\frac{1}{p}W_{p,\mathsf{d}}^{p}(\mu,\nu) = \sup\left\{\int_{X}\varphi\,\mathsf{d}\mu + \int_{X}\psi\,\mathsf{d}\nu: (\varphi,\psi)\in\mathrm{Adm}_{\mathsf{d}^{p}/p}(X)\right\}$$

for every $\mu,\nu\in\mathcal{P}_{p}(X,\mathsf{d}),$ (3.1)

where $\operatorname{Adm}_{d^p/p}(X)$ is the set of pairs $(\varphi, \psi) \in C_b(X) \times C_b(X)$ such that

$$\varphi(x) + \psi(y) \le \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{d}^p(x, y) \text{ for every } x, y \in X.$$

It is easy to check that for every $f \in \text{Lip}(X, d)$ and $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}_p(X, d)$ we have

$$\int_{X} f \operatorname{d}(\mu - \nu) \leq \operatorname{Lip}(f, X) W_{p, \mathsf{d}}(\mu, \nu);$$
(3.2)

in fact, choosing $\boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \Gamma_{o,p,d}(\mu, \nu)$ and setting $L := \operatorname{Lip}(f, X)$, we have

$$\int_X f \,\mathrm{d}(\mu - \nu) = \int (f(x) - f(y)) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}(x, y) \le L \int \mathrm{d}\,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma} \le L \Big(\int \mathrm{d}^p \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}\Big)^{1/p} = L W_p(\mu, \nu).$$

3.1 Estimates for Kantorovich potentials in $(\mathbb{R}^d, \|\cdot\|)$

In this subsection we study some stability properties for Kantorovich potentials in finite dimensional real Banach spaces for the cost induced by the *p*-th power of the norm. We thus

fix a dimension $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and a norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathbb{R}^d such that

the unit $\|\cdot\|$ -ball $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1)$: = { $x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \|x\| < 1$ } is strictly convex and has C^{1,1} boundary. (3.3)

We consider the map $h : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$ defined as

$$h(x) := \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^p, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

and its Legendre transform $h^* : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$ which is given by

$$h^*(v) := \frac{1}{p'} \|v\|_*^{p'}, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

where $\|\cdot\|_*$ is the dual norm of $\|\cdot\|$. Since *h* is strictly convex, h^* is differentiable and we denote by $j_{p'}$ the gradient¹ of h^* which satisfies the equality

$$\langle j_{p'}(v), v \rangle = \|v\|_*^{p'} = \|j_{p'}(v)\|^p, \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(3.4)

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the standard scalar product on \mathbb{R}^d . The reason for restricting our analysis to norms satisfying condition (3.3) is that the cost function c(x, y) induced by *h* through the formula

$$c(x, y): = h(x - y), \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$$
 (3.5)

is compatible with the frameworks studied in [11, 13] whose results we will often use. More specifically, the function *h* as above, satisfies hypotheses (H1), (H2) and (H3) in [13]: while (H1) and (H3) are obvious, let us just mention that the smoothness of the unit $\|\cdot\|$ -sphere gives that the unit $\|\cdot\|$ -ball satisfies the so called ε -ball condition for some $\varepsilon > 0$ (see e.g. [9, Definition 1.1, Theorem 1.9]) which in turn implies (H2). Also notice that, being the unit $\|\cdot\|$ -sphere smooth, $h \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ [20, Proposition 13.14].

We consider the complete and separable metric space $(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$, where $\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}$ is the distance induced by $\|\cdot\|$, and the corresponding $(p, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ -Wasserstein space. To simplify the notation, in this subsection, we will simply write $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, W_p and $\Gamma_{o,p}$, omitting the dependence on $\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}$. Moreover we denote by $\mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the subset of $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of probability measures that are absolutely continuous w.r.t. the *d*-dimensional Lebesgue measure \mathcal{L}^d and we set

$$\mathbf{m}_{p}^{p}(\mu) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|x\|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(x) = W_{p}^{p}(\mu, \delta_{0}), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(3.6)

Finally let us set

$$B_{\|\cdot\|}(x, R) := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d : \|x - y\| < R \right\}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ R > 0.$$

The next theorem uses the results of Gangbo and McCann [13, Sections 3 and 4] and Figalli and Gigli [11] to collect various useful properties of the optimal potentials realizing the supremum in (3.1) when the support of one of the measures is a closed ball. This result plays the same role of [12, Theorem 3.2] for the case p = q = 2 and $\|\cdot\|$ equal to the Euclidean norm.

$$j_{p'}(v) = |v|^{p'-2}v, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

 $^{^1}$ Notice that in case $\|\cdot\|$ coincides with the Euclidean norm $|\cdot|,\,j_{p'}$ is simply given by

Theorem 3.1 Let $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $\operatorname{supp}\nu = \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)}$ for some R > 0. Any pair of locally Lipschitz² functions $\phi \in L^1(B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \nu)$ and $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ such that

(i)
$$\phi(x) + \psi(y) \le \frac{1}{p} ||x - y||^p$$
 for every $(x, y) \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \times \mathbb{R}^d$,
(ii) $\int_{B(0,R)} \phi \, d\nu + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi \, d\mu = \frac{1}{p} W_p^p(\mu, \nu)$,

satisfies also

$$W_p^p(\mu,\nu) = \int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \|\nabla\phi\|_*^{p'} d\nu = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|\nabla\psi\|_*^{p'} d\mu.$$
(3.7)

There exists a unique pair as above satisfying conditions (i), (ii) and the additional conditions (iii)

$$\phi(x) = \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p - \psi(y) \right\} \qquad \text{for every } x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \quad (3.8)$$

$$\psi(y) = \inf_{x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p - \phi(x) \right\} \quad \text{for every } y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(3.9)

(*iv*) $\psi(0) = 0$.

Such a unique pair is denoted by $(\Phi(v, \mu), \Phi^*(v, \mu))$. Finally, the function $\psi := \Phi^*(v, \mu)$ satisfies the following estimates: there exists a constant $K_{p,R}$, depending only on p and R, such that

$$\begin{split} \left| \psi(y') - \psi(y'') \right| &\leq \|y' - y''\| 2^{p-1} (2R^{p-1} + \|y'\|^{p-1} + \|y''\|^{p-1}) & \text{for every } y', y'' \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ &(3.10) \\ \left| \psi(y) \right| &\leq K_{p,R} (1 + \|y\|^p) & \text{for every } y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ &(3.11) \\ \|\nabla \psi(y)\|_* &\leq K_{p,R} (1 + \|y\|^{p-1}) & \text{for } \mathcal{L}^d \text{ -a.e. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ &(3.12) \\ \psi(y) &\geq \frac{1}{2p} \|y\|^p - K_{p,R} & \text{for every } y \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{split}$$

Proof Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{o,p}(\nu, \mu)$ be fixed and let *c* be as in (3.5). We divide the proof in several steps.

Claim 1 Let $\phi \in L^1(B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \nu)$ and $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ be locally Lipschitz functions satisfying (i) and (ii). Then the maps *t*, *s* defined as

$$t(x) := x - (j_{p'} \circ \nabla \phi)(x), \quad v \text{ -a.e. } x \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R),$$

$$s(y) := y - (j_{p'} \circ \nabla \psi)(y), \quad \mu \text{ -a.e. } y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

are Optimal Transport maps from ν to μ and from μ to ν , respectively. In particular ϕ and ψ satisfy (3.7).

(3.13)

² Lipschitzianity is meant w.r.t. any (equivalent) norm on \mathbb{R}^d .

Proof of claim 1 The proof of this statement is classical and thus omitted (see e.g. [30, Theorem 2.12], [24, Theorem 1.17] or [2, Theorem 6.2.4]).

By the proof of [2, Theorem 6.14] and [2, Theorem 6.15], we have that there exists a *c*-concave function $u \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, v; [-\infty, +\infty))$ such that *u* is finite on $\pi^1(\text{supp}\boldsymbol{\gamma}), u^c$ is finite on $\pi^2(\text{supp}\boldsymbol{\gamma}), u^c \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu; [-\infty, +\infty))$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \mathrm{d}\nu + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u^c \mathrm{d}\mu = \frac{1}{p} W_p^p(\mu, \nu),$$

where u^c is the *c*-transform of *u* defined as

$$u^{c}(y) := \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}} \left\{ c(x, y) - u(x) \right\}, \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

and $\pi^i : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is the projection $\pi^i(x_1, x_2) = x_i$ for i = 1, 2. Recall that *c*-concavity of *u* means that there exists some proper $v : \mathbb{R}^d \to [-\infty, +\infty)$ such that

$$u(x) = \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ c(x, z) - v(z) \right\}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Claim 2 If we define $\tilde{\psi}$ as

$$\tilde{\psi}(y) := \inf_{x \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left\{ c(x,y) - u(x) \right\}, \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

then ψ is real valued and locally Lipschitz, it is finite on $\pi^2(\operatorname{supp} \gamma), \tilde{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u \mathrm{d}\nu + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \tilde{\psi} \mathrm{d}\mu = \frac{1}{p} W_p^p(\nu, \mu).$$
(3.14)

Proof of claim 2 Since $u(x) + u^c(y) = c(x, y)$ for every $(x, y) \in \text{supp}\gamma$, then for μ -a.e. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ there exists some $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ such that $u(x) + u^c(y) = c(x, y)$. This gives that $u^c = \tilde{\psi} \mu$ -a.e. in \mathbb{R}^d and proves that $\tilde{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ and (3.14). Since $\tilde{\psi} \ge u^c$ everywhere, we also have that $\tilde{\psi}$ is finite in $\pi^2(\text{supp}\gamma)$. Let us prove that $\tilde{\psi}$ is real valued. Since v is proper, there exists some $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $v(z_0) \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$u(x) \le c(x, z_0) - v(z_0)$$
 for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

so that

$$\tilde{\psi}(y) \ge \inf_{x \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \{ c(x,y) - c(x,z_0) \} + v(z_0) > -\infty$$

since the map $x \mapsto c(x, y) - c(x, z_0)$ is bounded below in $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ for every fixed $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. To prove that $\tilde{\psi}$ is locally Lipschitz, it is enough to observe that, for every M > 0 and every $y', y'' \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, M)$, we have

$$\left|\tilde{\psi}(y') - \tilde{\psi}(y'')\right| \le \inf_{x \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left| c(x,y') - c(x,y'') \right| \le \omega_c(R,M) \|y' - y''\|,$$

where $\omega_c(R, M)$ is the uniform $\|\cdot\|$ -modulus of continuity of *c* on the compact set $\overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)} \times \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, M)}$.

Claim 3 If we define $\tilde{\varphi}$ as the restriction of *u* to $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, then we have that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is real valued and locally Lipschitz.

Proof of claim 3 Let us denote the effective domain of *u* by

$$D(u) := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : u(x) > -\infty \}$$

and its interior by Ω . Since *u* is *c*-concave, by [11, Step 2 in the proof of Theorem 1], we know that for every point $x \in D(u) \setminus \Omega$ there exists some $v_x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ and $\ell_x > 0$ such that the interior of the set

$$C_x := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d : \text{ there exists } t \in [0, \ell_x] \text{ s.t. } \|x + tv_x - y\| \le t/2 \right\}$$

does not intersect D(u). Thus we have that $int(\overline{D(u)}) \subset \Omega$. Moreover u is locally Lipschitz in Ω by [11, Step 3 in the proof of Theorem 1]. It is then enough to prove that $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \subset \Omega$. Since $\pi^1(supp \gamma) \subset supp v$ is dense in suppv and u is finite on $\pi^1(supp \gamma)$, then

$$\overline{\mathsf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} = \operatorname{supp} \nu \subset \overline{\pi^1}(\operatorname{supp} \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \subset \overline{D(u)}.$$

Finally

$$\Omega \supset \operatorname{int}(D(u)) \supset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R),$$

so that $B_{\parallel \cdot \parallel}(0, R) \subset \Omega$.

Claim 4 If we define $\varphi : B_{\parallel \cdot \parallel}(0, R) \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\varphi^* : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\begin{split} \varphi(x) &:= \tilde{\varphi}(x) + \tilde{\psi}(0), \quad x \in \mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \\ \varphi^*(y) &:= \tilde{\psi}(y) - \tilde{\psi}(0), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{split}$$

then they are locally Lipschitz, $\varphi \in L^1(\mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)), \nu), \varphi^* \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ and they satisfy points (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) of the statement.

Proof of claim 4 The only nontrivial fact to be checked is (3.8). Let us define the modified cost function $\tilde{c} : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty]$ as

$$\tilde{c}(x, y) := \begin{cases} c(x, y) & \text{if } (x, y) \in \mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \\ +\infty & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

and the function $w: \mathbb{R}^d \to [-\infty, +\infty)$ as

$$w(z):=v(z)-\tilde{\psi}(0), \quad z\in\mathbb{R}^d.$$

It is thus clear that

$$\begin{split} w^{\tilde{c}}(x) &= \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \tilde{c}(x, z) - w(z) \right\} = \begin{cases} \varphi(x) & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \\ +\infty & \text{else}, \end{cases} \\ w^{\tilde{c}\tilde{c}}(y) &= \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \tilde{c}(x, y) - w^{\tilde{c}}(y) \right\} = \inf_{x \in \mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)} \left\{ c(x, y) - \varphi(x) \right\} = \varphi^*(y), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ w^{\tilde{c}\tilde{c}\tilde{c}}(x) &= \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \tilde{c}(x, y) - w^{\tilde{c}\tilde{c}}(y) \right\} = \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \tilde{c}(x, y) - \varphi^*(y) \right\}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{split}$$

By [30, Prop. 5.8], we have that $w^{\tilde{c}} = w^{\tilde{c}\tilde{c}\tilde{c}}$ that reduces precisely to (3.8) in case $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$.

Claim 5 The pair (φ, φ^*) is unique.

🖉 Springer

$$\begin{split} t(x) &:= x - (j_{p'} \circ \nabla \varphi)(x), & \nu \text{ -a.e. } x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \\ t_0(x) &:= x - (j_{p'} \circ \nabla \varphi_0)(x), & \nu \text{ -a.e. } x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \end{split}$$

are Optimal Transport maps from ν to μ . Since φ and φ_0 are (restrictions of) *c*-concave functions and both *t* and t_0 push ν to μ , by [13, Theorem 4.4] we get that $t = t_0 \nu$ -a.e. in $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ and this gives in particular (recall that *h* is everywhere differentiable) that $\nabla \varphi_0 = \nabla \varphi \mathcal{L}^d$ -a.e. in $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$. From this and point (iii) we get uniqueness.

Claim 6 Let ψ : = $\Phi^*(\nu, \mu)$. Then there exists a constant $K_{p,R}$ depending only on p and R such that (3.10), (3.11), (3.12) and (3.13) hold.

Proof of claim 6 (3.10) is a consequence of the elementary inequality

$$|a^{p} - b^{p}| \le p|a - b|(a^{p-1} + b^{p-1}), a, b \ge 0,$$

and of the fact that

$$|\psi(y') - \psi(y'')| \le \frac{1}{p} \sup_{x \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left| \|x - y'\|^p - \|x - y''\|^p \right|.$$

(3.11), (3.12) directly follow by (3.10). Finally, (3.13) follows by the inequality

$$\|x - y\|^{p} \ge \frac{1}{2} \|y\|^{p} - K_{p} \|x\|^{p}, \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$
(3.15)

that holds for a suitable constant $K_p > 0$ that depends solely on p. In fact, using (iii), we have that

$$\varphi(x) \le \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^p$$
 for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$

so that

$$\psi(y) \ge \inf_{x \in B_{\parallel,\parallel}(0,R)} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^p \right\} \ge \frac{1}{2p} \|y\|^p - \frac{1}{p} (K_p + 1) R^p \quad \text{for every } y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Remark 3.2 There exists a constant $D_{p,R}$, depending only on p and R such that, if $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a function satisfying (3.10), then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi d(\mu' - \mu'') \le D_{p,R} W_p(\mu', \mu'') (1 + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu') + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu'')) \quad \text{for every } \mu', \mu'' \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(3.16)

In fact, by (3.10), if we take any $\boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \Gamma_{o,p}(\mu', \mu'')$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi d(\mu' - \mu'') &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left(\psi(y') - \psi(y'') \right) d\mathbf{\gamma}(y', y'') \\ &\leq 2^{p-1} \left(\int_{R^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \|y' - y''\|^p d\mathbf{\gamma}(y', y'') \right)^{1/p} \\ &\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left(2R^{p-1} + \|y'\|^{p-1} + \|y''\|^{p-1} \right)^{p'} d\mathbf{\gamma}(y', y'') \right)^{1/p'} \end{split}$$

so that (3.16) follows.

🖉 Springer

In the following results we collect some properties of sequences of pairs of potentials as in Theorem 3.1. The aim is to prove that, under suitable conditions, such sequences converge to optimal potentials.

In the next Propositions we use the notation

$$dist(A, B) := \inf\{ \|x - y\| : x \in A, y \in B\}, \quad A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Proposition 3.3 Let R, I > 0 and let $(\varphi_n)_n, (\psi_n)_n$ be sequences of functions such that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_n(x) &= \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \| x - y \|^p - \psi_n(y) \right\}, \qquad \psi_n(y) = \inf_{x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \| x - y \|^p - \varphi_n(y) \right\}, \\ \psi_n(0) &= 0, \qquad \qquad \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \varphi_n \, d\mathcal{L}^d \ge -I \end{split}$$

for every $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, every $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then φ_n is locally (w.r.t. $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded and Lipschitz.

Proof The proof is strongly based on [11] (see also the similar approach in [13, Proposition C.3]) and it is divided in two claims. For the whole proof, we extend φ_n to \mathbb{R}^d simply setting

$$\varphi_n(x) = \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p - \psi_n(y) \right\} \text{ for every } x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Claim 1 The sequence φ_n is locally (w.r.t. $x \in B_{\parallel \cdot \parallel}(0, R)$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded.

Proof of claim 1 Since $\varphi_n(x) \leq \frac{1}{p} ||x||^p$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, it is enough to prove that φ_n is locally uniformly bounded from below in $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$. Let us suppose by contradiction that there exist some $\bar{x} \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ and a sequence $(x_n)_n \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ such that $x_n \to \bar{x}$ and $\varphi_n(x_n) \to -\infty$. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can choose some $y_n \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that

$$\varphi_n(x_n) + 1 \ge \frac{1}{p} ||x_n - y_n||^p - \psi_n(y_n) \ge -\psi_n(y_n)$$

implying that $\psi_n(y_n) \to +\infty$. Thus, since $\varphi_n(\bar{x}) \in \mathbb{R}$ and

$$\varphi_n(\bar{x}) \leq \frac{1}{p} \|\bar{x} - y_n\|^p - \psi(y_n),$$

we get that $\|\bar{x} - y_n\| \to +\infty$ which in particular gives that $\|x_n - y_n\| \to +\infty$. Let us define now the curves $\gamma_n : [0, \|x_n - y_n\|] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ as

$$\gamma_n(t) = \left(1 - \frac{t}{\|x_n - y_n\|}\right) x_n + \frac{t}{\|x_n - y_n\|} y_n, \quad t \in [0, \|x_n - y_n\|].$$

Since $||x_n - y_n|| \to +\infty$, we can assume that $||x_n - y_n|| \ge 1$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and define

$$C_n := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \text{ there exists } t \in [0, 1] \text{ such that } \|x - \gamma_n(t)\| \le \frac{t}{2} \right\}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

🖄 Springer

We claim that $\sup_{C_n} \varphi_n \to -\infty$ as $n \to +\infty$. Indeed if $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $t \in [0, 1]$ is such that $||x - \gamma_n(t)|| \le t/2$, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{n}(x) &\leq \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^{p} - \psi_{n}(y_{n}) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{p} (\|x - \gamma_{n}(t)\| + \|\gamma_{n}(t) - y_{n}\|)^{p} - \psi_{n}(y_{n}) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{p} (t/2 + \|\gamma_{n}(t) - y_{n}\|)^{p} - \psi_{n}(y_{n}) \\ &= \frac{1}{p} \|x_{n} - y_{n}\| - t/2|^{p} - \psi_{n}(y_{n}) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{p} \|x_{n} - y_{n}\|^{p} - \frac{t}{2} \|x_{n} - y_{n}\|^{p-1} - \psi_{n}(y_{n}) \\ &\leq \varphi_{n}(x_{n}) + \frac{1}{n} - \frac{t}{2} \|x_{n} - y_{n}\|^{p-1} \\ &\leq \varphi_{n}(x_{n}) + 1, \end{split}$$
(3.17)

where we have used the elementary inequality

$$(a-b)^p \le a^p - pa^{p-1}b^p$$
 for every $0 \le a \le b$.

Letting $n \to +\infty$, we obtain the claim. Up to passing to a (unrelabeled) subsequence, we can thus assume that

$$\varphi_n(x) \leq -n$$
 for every $x \in C_n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Since $\bar{x} \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ there exists some $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $B_{\|\cdot\|}(\bar{x}, \varepsilon) \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that $\|x_n - \bar{x}\| < \varepsilon/2$ for every $n \ge N$ and let $\delta := \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$; it is not difficult to check that the truncated sets

$$C_n^{\delta} := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \text{ there exists } t \in [0, \delta] \text{ such that } \|x - \gamma_n(t)\| \le \frac{t}{2} \right\} \subset C_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

are such that $C_n^{\delta} \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(\bar{x}, \varepsilon) \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ for every $n \ge N$. Then for every $n \ge N$ we have

$$-I - \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{m}_{p}^{p} (\mathcal{L}^{d} \sqcup \mathsf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)) \leq \int_{\mathsf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)} \left(\varphi_{n}(x) - \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^{p}\right) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^{d}(x)$$
$$\leq \int_{C_{n}^{\delta}} \left(\varphi_{n}(x) - \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^{p}\right) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^{d}(x)$$
$$\leq \int_{C_{n}^{\delta}} \left(-n - \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^{p}\right) \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^{d}(x)$$
$$\leq -n\mathcal{L}^{d}(C_{n}^{\delta})$$
$$= -\frac{n\omega_{d-1}\delta^{d}}{d2^{d-1}n^{d-1}},$$

where ω_{d-1} is the \mathcal{L}^{d-1} -measure of the Euclidean (d-1)-dimensional unit ball and $\eta > 0$ is a constant such that

$$||x|| \le \eta |x|$$
 for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

where $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^d . Passing to the limit as $n \to +\infty$ gives that $I = \infty$, a contradiction.

Claim 2 For every $K \subset \mathbb{C} B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ there exists $M_K > 0$ such that

$$\varphi_n(x) = \inf_{y \in \mathbf{B}_{\parallel \cdot \parallel}(0, M_K)} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \| x - y \|^p - \psi_n(y) \right\} \text{ for every } x \in K \text{ and for every } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

so that the sequence φ_n is locally (w.r.t. $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) Lipschitz.

Proof of claim 2 Let $K \subset \mathbb{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ be fixed; we claim that there exists $C_K > 0$ such that, if $(x, y, n) \in K \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{N}$ are such that

$$\varphi_n(x) + 1 \ge \frac{1}{p} ||x - y||^p - \psi_n(y),$$

then $y \in \overline{B_{\parallel \cdot \parallel}(x, C_K)}$. Let us define

$$C_K := \max\left\{1, \left(\frac{2}{\ell}\left(S_{K_\ell} - I_{K_\ell} + 1\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}\right\},\$$

where $0 < \ell < \operatorname{dist}(K, \operatorname{B}_{\parallel,\parallel}^{c}(0, R))$ and

$$K_{\ell} := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} : \operatorname{dist}(x, K) \leq \ell \right\} \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R),$$

$$S_{K_{\ell}} := \sup \left\{ \varphi_{n}(x) : (x, n) \in K_{\ell} \times \mathbb{N} \right\} < +\infty,$$

$$I_{K_{\ell}} := \inf \left\{ \varphi_{n}(x) : (x, n) \in K_{\ell} \times \mathbb{N} \right\} > -\infty,$$

where we have used claim 1 to ensure that the supremum and the infimum are finite. Let us consider $(x, y, n) \in K \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{N}$ as above. To prove that C_K is the sought constant, it is enough to consider the case in which $||x - y|| \ge 1$. If we define $\gamma : [0, ||x - y||] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ as the curve given by

$$\gamma(t) := \left(1 - \frac{t}{\|x - y\|}\right)x + \frac{t}{\|x - y\|}y, \quad t \in [0, \|x - y\|],$$

we have, arguing as in (3.17), that

$$\varphi_n(\gamma(\ell)) \le \varphi_n(x) + 1 - \frac{\ell}{2} \|x - y\|^{p-1}$$

so that $||x - y|| \le C_K$. We thus set

$$M_K := \sup \left\{ \|y\| : y \in K + \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, C_K) \right\}.$$

If $x \in K$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ are fixed, we can find a minimizing sequence $(y_k)_k \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, in the sense that

$$\varphi_n(x) + 1 \ge \varphi_n(x_k) + \frac{1}{k} \ge \frac{1}{p} ||x - y_k||^p - \psi_n(y_k)$$
 for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$

so that, by the result we have just proven, $(y_k)_k$ is bounded and thus converges, up to a (unrelabeled) subsequence to some $\bar{y} \in \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(x, C_K)}$. Passing the above inequality to the limit as $k \to +\infty$, we get that

$$\varphi_n(x) \ge \frac{1}{p} \|x - \bar{y}\|^p - \psi_n(\bar{y}).$$

This proves that \bar{y} is a minimizer and, since it belongs to $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, M_K)$, we get the second claim.

Proposition 3.4 Let R, I > 0 and let $(\varphi_n)_n, (\psi_n)_n$ be sequences of functions such that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_n(x) &= \inf_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \| x - y \|^p - \psi_n(y) \right\}, \qquad \psi_n(y) = \inf_{x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left\{ \frac{1}{p} \| x - y \|^p - \varphi_n(y) \right\}, \\ \psi_n(0) &= 0, \qquad \qquad \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \varphi_n \, d\mathcal{L}^d \ge -I \end{split}$$

for every $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, every $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exist a subsequence $j \mapsto n(j)$ and two locally Lipschitz functions $\varphi : B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\varphi_{n(j)} \to \varphi$ locally uniformly in $B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, $\psi_{n(j)} \to \psi$ locally uniformly in \mathbb{R}^d and

$$\partial^{c}\psi(y) \neq \emptyset$$
, $\lim_{j} \sup \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^{c}\psi(y)) : x \in \partial^{c}\psi_{n(j)}(y) \right\} = 0$ for every $y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$,
(3.18)

$$\nabla \psi_{n(j)} \to \nabla \psi \quad \mathcal{L}^d \text{ -a.e. in } \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{3.19}$$

where $\partial^c \psi$ is the *c*-superdifferential operator of ψ , whose graph is given by

$$\partial^{c}\psi := \left\{ (y,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} : \psi(z) \le \psi(y) + \frac{1}{p} \|z - x\|^{p} - \frac{1}{p} \|y - x\|^{p} \text{ for every } z \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \right\}.$$
(3.20)

Proof The proof is divided in three claims, the first of which is adapted from [13, Proposition C.4]. By Proposition 3.3 we have that the sequence φ_n is locally (w.r.t. $x \in B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded and Lipschitz. Arguing as in Theorem 3.1 (see in particular (3.10) and (3.11)), we have that the sequence ψ_n is locally (w.r.t. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded and Lipschitz. Hence we can apply Ascoli-Arzelá theorem and obtain the existence of a subsequence $j \mapsto n(j)$ and two locally Lipschitz functions $\varphi : \mathbb{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ and $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\varphi_{n(j)} \to \varphi$ locally uniformly in $\mathbb{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ and $\psi_{n(j)} \to \psi$ locally uniformly in \mathbb{R}^d .

Claim 1 For every K > 0 there exists a constant $C_K > 0$ such that

$$\partial^{c}\psi_{n}(\overline{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,K)}) \subset \overline{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,C_{K})} \times \overline{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,C_{K})} \quad \text{for every } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where $\partial^c \psi_n$ is the *c*-superdifferential operator of ψ_n (which is defined analogously to $\partial^c \psi$ adapting (3.20) in the obvious way). Moreover $\partial^c \psi_n(y) \neq \emptyset$ for every $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof of claim 1 Let us start from the last part of the claim; let $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed. By hypothesis, we can find a sequence $(x_j)_j \subset B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ such that for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds

$$\frac{1}{p} \|x_j - y\|^p - \varphi_n(x_j) - \frac{1}{j} \le \psi_n(y),$$

$$\psi_n(z) \le \frac{1}{p} \|x_j - z\|^p - \varphi_n(x_j) \quad \text{for every } z \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

This gives that

$$\psi_n(z) + \frac{1}{p} \|x_j - y\|^p - \frac{1}{j} \le \psi_n(y) + \frac{1}{p} \|x_j - z\|^p$$
 for every $(z, j) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{N}$.

Up to a (unrelabeled) subsequence, there exists some $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $x_j \to x$ and we get passing to the limit the above inequality that

$$\psi_n(z) \le \psi_n(y) + \frac{1}{p} \|x - z\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p \quad \text{for every } z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

meaning that $x \in \partial^c \psi_n(y)$. Let us come to the first part of the claim. Let K > 0 be fixed and observe that, arguing as in Theorem 3.1 (see in particular (3.11)), the sequence ψ_n is locally (w.r.t. $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$) uniformly (w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded, so that there exists some $T_K > 0$ such that

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{y \in \overline{\mathsf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K + \frac{1}{2})}} |\psi_n(y)| < T_K.$$
(3.21)

We claim that there exists a constant D_K such that, whenever $(x, \lambda, u, n) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \times \overline{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K) \times \mathbb{N}$ are such that

$$\psi_n(z) \le \frac{1}{p} \|z - x\|^p + \lambda \quad \text{for every } z \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(3.22)

$$\frac{1}{p} \|u - x\|^p + \lambda < T_K,$$
(3.23)

then $||x|| \leq D_K$. Suppose by contradiction that we can find a sequence $(x_k, \lambda_k, u_k, n_k)_k \subset \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \times \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K)} \times \mathbb{N}$ satisfying (3.22) and (3.23) such that $||x_k|| \to +\infty$. Let $v_k := u_k - x_k$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $u_k \in \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K)}$, and $||x_k|| \to +\infty$, we may assume that $||v_k|| > 1$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us also define $\xi_k := 1 - \frac{1}{2\|v_k\|}$ so that $\xi_k \to 1$ as $k \to +\infty$. Finally, let $z_k := u_k + (\xi_k - 1)v_k, k \in \mathbb{N}$ and observe that (3.21) implies that $|\psi_{n_k}(z_k)| < T_K$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ since

$$||z_k|| = ||u_k + (\xi_k - 1)v_k|| = \left||u_k + \frac{v_k}{2||v_k||}\right|| \le K + \frac{1}{2}.$$

We can thus evaluate (3.22) and (3.23) written for $(x_k, \lambda_k, u_k, n_k)$ with $z = z_k$ obtaining that

$$\psi_{n_k}(z_k) \leq \frac{1}{p} \|z_k - x_k\|^p + \lambda_k, \quad \frac{1}{p} \|u_k - x_k\|^p + \lambda_k < T_K \quad \text{for every } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We thus deduce that

$$\frac{1}{p} \|v_k\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|\xi_k v_k\|^p = \frac{1}{p} \|v_k\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|z_k - x_k\|^p \le 2T_K \quad \text{for every } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.24)

Let now w_k be the unique element of the subdifferential of h at the point $\xi_k v_k$ so that

$$\frac{1}{p} \|0\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|\xi_k v_k\|^p \ge \langle w_k, 0 - \xi_k v_k \rangle \quad \text{for every } k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.25)

$$\frac{1}{p} \|v_k\|^p - \frac{1}{p} \|\xi_k v_k\|^p \ge \langle w_k, v_k - \xi_k v_k \rangle \quad \text{for every } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.26)

Combining (3.24) with (3.26) we get

$$2T_{K} \geq \frac{1}{p} \|v_{k}\|^{p} - \frac{1}{p} \|\xi_{k}v_{k}\|^{p}$$

$$\geq \langle w_{k}, v_{k} - \xi_{k}v_{k} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\|v_{k}\|} \langle w_{k}, v_{k} \rangle$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{2p} \xi_{k}^{p-1} \|v_{k}\|^{p-1} \text{ for every } k \in \mathbb{N},$$

where for the last inequality we have used (3.25). Since $\xi_k \geq \frac{1}{2}$ and $||v_k|| \rightarrow +\infty$, we get a contradiction, proving our first claim. We set $C_K := \max\{K, D_K\}$ and we prove that $\partial^c \psi_n(\overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K)}) \subset \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, C_K)} \times \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, C_K)}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $(y, x) \in$ $\partial^c \psi_n(\overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K)})$ and we define $\lambda := \psi_n(y) - \frac{1}{p}||x - y||^p$, we have that $(x, \lambda, y, n) \in$ $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \times \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, K)} \times \mathbb{N}$ and satisfies (3.22) and (3.23) by the very definition of $\partial^c \psi_n$ so that by the above claim we get that $||x|| \leq D_K \leq C_K$ and of course $||y|| \leq K \leq C_K$. This concludes the proof of the claim.

Claim 2 We have that

$$\partial^c \psi(y) \neq \emptyset$$
, $\lim_j \sup \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^c \psi(y)) : x \in \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y) \right\} = 0$ for every $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof of claim 2 Let $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be fixed; observe that, if $(x_j)_j$ is any sequence such that $x_j \in \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y)$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ (there exists at least one such a sequence by claim 1), then by claim $1 \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y)$ are uniformly (w.r.t $j \in \mathbb{N}$) bounded so that we can extract a subsequence $k \mapsto j_k$ such that $x_{j_k} \to x$ for some $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. By the very definition of *c*-superdifferential, we have that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds

$$\psi_{n(j_k)}(z) \le \psi_{n(j_k)}(y) + \frac{1}{p} ||z - x_{j_k}||^p - \frac{1}{p} ||y - x_{j_k}||^p$$
 for every $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Passing to the limit as $k \to +\infty$, we get that $x \in \partial^c \psi(y)$, so that $\partial^c \psi(y) \neq \emptyset$. This proves in particular that from any sequence of points $(x_j)_j$ such that $x_j \in \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y)$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we can extract a subsequence converging to an element of $\partial^c \psi(y)$. Let us come now to the proof of the limit. We prove that from any (unrelabeled) subsequence of n(j) we can extract a further subsequence such that we have the convergence above. For every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we can find some $x_i \in \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y)$ such that

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_j, \partial^c \psi(y)) + \frac{1}{j} \ge \sup \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^c \psi(y)) : x \in \partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y) \right\}.$$

Reasoning as above, we find a subsequence $k \mapsto j_k$ such that $x_{j_k} \to x \in \partial^c \psi(y)$ as $k \to +\infty$. Then we have

$$0 = \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^{c} \psi(y)) = \lim_{k} \operatorname{dist}(x_{j_{k}}, \partial^{c} \psi(y)) + \frac{1}{j_{k}}$$

$$\geq \limsup_{k} \sup \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^{c} \psi(y)) : x \in \partial^{c} \psi_{n(j_{k})}(y) \right\}.$$

This concludes the proof of the claim.

Claim 3 We have that $\nabla \psi_{n(j)} \rightarrow \nabla \psi \mathcal{L}^d$ -a.e. in \mathbb{R}^d .

Proof of claim 3 Let $A := \{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : \psi \text{ and } \psi_{n(j)} \text{ are differentiable aty for every } j \in \mathbb{N}\}$; notice that A has full \mathcal{L}^d measure. Let $y \in A$; since ψ is differentiable at y we know by [13, Lemma 3.1] that any $x \in \partial^c \psi(y)$ will satisfy $\|\nabla \psi(y)\|_*^{p'} = \|\nabla h(x-y)\|_*^{p'} = \|x-y\|^p$ so that $\partial^c \psi(y)$ is contained in $\overline{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, C)$ for some C > 0. On the other hand, claim 1 implies that there exists some constant D > 0 such that $\partial^c \psi_{n(j)}(y) \subset \overline{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, D)$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us define M > 0 as the uniform modulus of continuity of the map $x \mapsto \nabla h(x-y)$ in the compact set $\overline{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, C+D)$. By claim 2, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we can find $J_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that, if $j \ge J_{\varepsilon}$, then

$$dist(x, \partial^{c} \psi(y)) \leq \sup \left\{ dist(x, \partial^{c} \psi(y)) : x \in \partial^{c} \psi_{n(j)}(y) \right\}$$

$$< \varepsilon/M \quad \text{for every } x \in \partial^{c} \psi_{n(j)}(y).$$

This means that for every $j \ge J_{\varepsilon}$ and every $x_j \in \partial^{\varepsilon} \psi_{n(j)}(y)$ there exists some $z_j \in \partial^{\varepsilon} \psi(y)$ such that $||x_j - z_j|| < \varepsilon/M$. Using again [13, Lemma 3.1] and the fact that both $\psi_{n(j)}$ and ψ are differentiable at y, we have that $\nabla \psi_{n(j)}(y) = \nabla h(x_j - y)$ and $\nabla \psi(y) = \nabla h(z_j - y)$ for every $j \ge J_{\varepsilon}$. Then

$$\left|\nabla\psi_{n(j)}(\mathbf{y}) - \nabla\psi(\mathbf{y})\right| = \left|\nabla h(x_j - \mathbf{y}) - \nabla h(z_j - \mathbf{y})\right| \le M \|x_j - z_j\| < \varepsilon$$

for every $j \ge J_{\varepsilon}$. This concludes the proof of the claim.

4 The Wasserstein Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathbf{d}), W_{p,\mathbf{d}}, \mathfrak{m})$

The aim of this section is to study the *q*-Sobolev space on the (p, d)-Wasserstein space on a separable and complete metric space (X, d). In particular we will show at the end of this section that the algebra of cylinder functions generated by a sufficiently rich algebra of Lipschitz and bounded functions on (X, d) is dense in *q*-energy in the Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, d), W_{p,d}, \mathfrak{m})$. For the whole section $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ are fixed exponents.

4.1 Cylinder functions on (X, d) and their differential in Banach spaces

Let (X, d) be a complete and separable metric space. We extend the definition of cylinder function in [12] to this more general setting. To every $\phi \in \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ we can associate the functional L_{ϕ} on $\mathcal{P}(X)$

$$\mathsf{L}_{\phi}: \mu \to \int_{X} \phi \, \mathrm{d}\mu \tag{4.1}$$

which belongs to $\operatorname{Lip}_b(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}})$ thanks to (3.2). If $\boldsymbol{\phi} = (\phi_1, \dots, \phi_N) \in (\operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d}))^N$, we denote by $\mathsf{L}_{\boldsymbol{\phi}} := (\mathsf{L}_{\phi_1}, \dots, \mathsf{L}_{\phi_N})$ the corresponding map from $\mathcal{P}(X)$ to \mathbb{R}^N .

Definition 4.1 (\mathscr{E} -cylinder functions) Let $\mathscr{E} \subset \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$ be an algebra of functions; we say that a function $F : \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a \mathscr{E} -cylinder function if there exist $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi = (\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_N) \in \mathscr{E}^N$ such that

$$F(\mu) = \psi(\mathsf{L}_{\phi}(\mu)) = \psi(\mathsf{L}_{\phi_1}(\mu), \cdots, \mathsf{L}_{\phi_N}(\mu)) \text{ for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}(X).$$
(4.2)

We denote the set of such functions by $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(X), \mathscr{E})$.

Remark 4.2 Since for every $\phi \in \mathscr{E}^N$ the range of L_{ϕ} is always contained in the bounded set $[-M, M]^N$ where $M := \max_{i=1,...,d} \|\phi_i\|_{\infty}$, also functions $F = \psi \circ \mathsf{L}_{\phi}$ with $\psi \in \mathsf{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ belong to $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(X), \mathscr{E})$. Indeed it is enough to consider a function $\tilde{\psi} \in \mathsf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ coinciding with ψ on $[-M, M]^N$ and equal to 0 outside $[-M - 1, M + 1]^N$ so that $F = \tilde{\psi} \circ \mathsf{L}_{\phi}$. In particular every function of the form $\mathsf{L}_{\phi}, \phi \in \mathscr{E}$, belongs to $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(X), \mathscr{E})$.

We use the notation \mathcal{D}_X for the Borel set

$$\mathcal{D}_X := \left\{ (\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}(X) \times X : x \in \operatorname{supp}(\mu) \right\}.$$
(4.3)

We introduce now the definition of differential of a cylinder function, still following [12], in case $(X, d) = (\mathbb{B}, d_{\|\cdot\|})$, where $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space and $d_{\|\cdot\|}$ is the distance induced by $\|\cdot\|$. In this case we denote by $C_b^1(\mathbb{B})$ the space of bounded, continuously differentiable and Lipschitz functions on \mathbb{B} .

Definition 4.3 Let $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$; then, given $N \in \mathbb{N}, \psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi \in (C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))^N$ such that $F = \psi \circ L_{\phi}$, we define the Wasserstein differential of F conditioned to $(\psi, \phi), DF_{\psi, \phi} : \overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\mathbb{B}} \to \mathbb{B}^*$, as

$$\mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}(\mu, x) := \sum_{n=1}^{N} \partial_n \psi \left(\mathsf{L}_{\phi}(\mu) \right) \nabla \phi_n(x), \quad (\mu, x) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{B}}}.$$
(4.4)

We will also denote by $DF_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]$ the function $x \mapsto DF_{\psi,\phi}(\mu, x)$ and we will set

$$\|\mathbf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}} \|\mathbf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu](x)\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu(x)\right)^{1/p'}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \quad (4.5)$$

where $\|\cdot\|_*$ is the dual norm to $\|\cdot\|$.

Remark 4.4 Let $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$, let $\boldsymbol{\mu} \in \Gamma_{o, p, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu_0, \mu_1)$ and let $u \in L^p(\mathbb{B}, \mu_0; (\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|))$. We define the curves $\mu, \nu : [0, 1] \to \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ as

$$\mu_t := \mathbf{x}_{\sharp}^t \boldsymbol{\mu}, \qquad t \in [0, 1], \tag{4.6}$$

$$\nu_t := (i_{\mathbb{B}} + tu)_{\sharp} \mu_0, \qquad t \in [0, 1], \qquad (4.7)$$

where $\mathbf{x}^t : \mathbb{B} \times \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}$ is the map defined as $\mathbf{x}^t(x_0, x_1) := (1 - t)x_0 + tx_1$, for every $(x_0, x_1) \in \mathbb{B} \times \mathbb{B}$ and $t \in [0, 1]$. If $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$, given $N \in \mathbb{N}, \psi \in \mathbf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\boldsymbol{\phi} \in (\mathbf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))^N$ such that $F = \psi \circ \mathbf{L}_{\boldsymbol{\phi}}$, then

$$\lim_{[0,1] \ni t \to s} \frac{F(\mu_t) - F(\mu_s)}{t - s} = \int_{\mathbb{B} \times \mathbb{B}} \langle \mathsf{D} F_{\psi, \phi}(\mu_s, \mathsf{x}^s(x_0, x_1)), x_1 - x_0 \rangle \mathrm{d} \mu(x_0, x_1), \quad (4.8)$$

$$\lim_{[0,1]\ni t\to s} \frac{F(\nu_t) - F(\nu_s)}{t-s} = \int_{\mathbb{B}} \langle \mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}(\nu_s, x), u(x) \rangle \mathrm{d}\nu_s(x), \tag{4.9}$$

for every $s \in [0, 1]$. This is a simple consequence of the chain rule and the regularity of ϕ .

Remark 4.5 It is not difficult to check that

$$DF_{\psi,\phi}$$
 is continuous in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}) \times \mathbb{B}$ (4.10)

with respect to the natural product (narrow and norm) topology. In principle $DF_{\psi,\phi}$ may depend on the choice of $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi \in (C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))^N$ used to represent *F*. In Proposition 4.7 we show that for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ the function $DF_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]$ is uniquely

characterized in supp(μ) so that $DF_{\psi,\phi}$ is uniquely characterized by F in $\mathcal{D}^p_{\mathbb{B}} := \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{B}} \cap (\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \times \mathbb{B})$. We will be then able to remove the subscript in $DF_{\psi,\phi}$ and denote it simply by D_pF .

The following Lemma is proved in [12] and will be useful in the proof of Proposition 4.7.

Lemma 4.6 Let Y be a Polish space and let $G : \mathcal{P}(Y) \times Y \to [0, +\infty)$ be a bounded and continuous function. If $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence in $\mathcal{P}(Y)$ narrowly converging (i.e. converging in duality with continuous and bounded functions on Y) to μ as $n \to +\infty$, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_Y G(\mu_n, y) d\mu_n(y) = \int_Y G(\mu, y) d\mu(y).$$

The following proposition corresponds to [12, Proposition 4.9] and the proof is quite similar but, because of a few differences, we still report it here.

Proposition 4.7 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space and let $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$; then, if $N \in \mathbb{N}, \psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi \in (C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))^N$ are such that $F = \psi \circ L_{\phi}$, we have

$$\|DF_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu} = \operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}} F(\mu) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}).$$

In particular, $\|DF_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu}$ does not depend on the choice of the representation of F and $DF_{\psi,\phi}$ just depends on F on $\overline{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{R}}^{p}}$ (cf. Remark 4.5).

Proof Let $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ and let $(\mu'_n, \mu''_n) \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \times \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ with $\mu'_n \neq \mu''_n$ be such that $(\mu'_n, \mu''_n) \to (\mu, \mu)$ in $W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}$ and

$$\lim_{n} \frac{\left|F(\mu'_{n}) - F(\mu''_{n})\right|}{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu'_{n},\mu''_{n})} = \operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}}F(\mu).$$

Let $(\mu_n^t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ be the curves defined as in (4.6) for plans $\mu_n \in \Gamma_{o,p,d_{\parallel,\parallel}}(\mu'_n, \mu''_n)$; we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| F(\mu'_{n}) - F(\mu''_{n}) \right| &= \left| \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{B} \times \mathbb{B}} \left\langle DF_{\psi, \phi}(\mu_{n}^{t}, \mathbf{x}^{t}(x_{0}, x_{1})), x_{1} - x_{0} \right\rangle d\mu_{n}(x_{0}, x_{1}) dt \right| \\ &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{B}} \left\| DF_{\psi, \phi}(\mu_{n}^{t}, x) \right\|_{*}^{p'} d\mu_{n}^{t}(x) dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\ &\qquad \left(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{B}} \left\| x_{1} - x_{0} \right\|^{p} d\mu_{n}(x_{0}, x_{1}) dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= W_{p, \mathbf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu'_{n}, \mu''_{n}) \left(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{B}} \left\| DF_{\psi, \phi}(\mu_{n}^{t}, x) \right\|_{*}^{p'} d\mu_{n}^{t}(x) dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}, \end{aligned}$$

where the first equality comes from (4.8). Dividing both sides by $W_{p,d_{\parallel,\parallel}}(\mu'_n,\mu''_n)$, we obtain

$$\frac{\left|F(\mu'_{n}) - F(\mu''_{n})\right|}{W_{p,\mathbf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu'_{n},\mu''_{n})} \le \left(\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\mathbb{B}}\left\|\mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}(\mu^{t}_{n},x)\right\|_{*}^{p'}\,\mathrm{d}\mu^{t}_{n}(x)\,\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}.$$

Observe that $\mu_n \to (i_{\mathbb{B}}, i_{\mathbb{B}})_{\sharp} \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B} \times \mathbb{B})$ so that $\mu_n^t \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B})$ for every $t \in [0, 1]$. We can pass to the limit as $n \to +\infty$ the above inequality using the dominated convergence Theorem and Lemma 4.6 with

$$G(\mu, x) := \left\| \mathsf{D}F_{\psi, \phi}(\mu, x) \right\|_*^{p'}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \ x \in \mathbb{B}.$$

🖉 Springer

We hence get

$$\lim_{W_{p,\mathbf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}} F(\mu) \le \left(\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{B}\times\mathbb{B}} \left\| \mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}(\mu,x) \right\|_*^{p'} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \, \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} = \|\mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu}.$$

To prove the other inequality we consider a countable dense subset $E := \{x_n\}_n$ of the unit sphere in \mathbb{B} and, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, the maps $N_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{B}^* \to \mathbb{N}$ and $j_{p',\varepsilon} : \mathbb{B}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ defined as

$$N_{\varepsilon}(x^*) := \min\left\{n \in \mathbb{N} : \langle x^*, x_n \rangle \ge \|x^*\|_* - \varepsilon\right\}, \qquad x^* \in \mathbb{B}^*,$$
$$j_{p',\varepsilon}(x^*) := \|x^*\|^{p'/p} x_{N_{\varepsilon}(x^*)}, \qquad x^* \in \mathbb{B}^*.$$

It is not difficult to check that $j_{p',\varepsilon}$ is measurable: if we define the sets

$$A_n := \left\{ x^* \in \mathbb{B}^* : \langle x^*, x_n \rangle \ge \|x^*\|_* - \varepsilon \right\}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$U_1 := A_1,$$

$$U_n := A_n \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} A_i, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}, n > 1,$$

then $\{U_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a countable measurable partition of \mathbb{B}^* and $j_{p',\varepsilon}$ can be written as $j_{p',\varepsilon}(x^*) = \|x^*\|_*^{p'/p} x_n$ if $x \in U_n$, so that $j_{p',\varepsilon}$ is measurable. Moreover it is obvious that

$$\|j_{p',\varepsilon}(x^*)\|^p = \|x^*\|_*^{p'}, \quad \langle j_{p',\varepsilon}(x^*), x^* \rangle \ge \|x^*\|_*^{p'} - \varepsilon \|x^*\|_*^{p'/p}, \quad \text{for every } x^* \in \mathbb{B}^*.$$
(4.11)

Let us now consider the maps $T, u_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}$ defined as

$$T(x) := \mathbf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu](x), \quad u_{\varepsilon}(x) := j_{p',\varepsilon}(T(x)), \quad x \in \mathbb{B},$$

and the curve $(v_t^{\varepsilon})_{t\in[0,1]}$ defined as in (4.7) with u_{ε} as above (notice that $u_{\varepsilon} \in L^p(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|))$ since it is Borel measurable and $\|u_{\varepsilon}(x)\|^p = \|T(x)\|_*^{p'} < C < +\infty$ for every $x \in \mathbb{B}$). By (4.9), we get that

$$\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{F(v_t^{\varepsilon}) - F(\mu)}{t} = \int_{\mathbb{B}} \left\langle \mathsf{D}F_{\psi, \phi}(\mu, x), u_{\varepsilon}(x) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \ge \|T\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))}^{p'} - C^{1/p}\varepsilon,$$

where we used (4.11). Moreover

$$\frac{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu,\nu_t^{\varepsilon})}{t} \le \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{B},\mu;(\mathbb{B},\|\cdot\|))} = \|T\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{B},\mu;(\mathbb{B}^*,\|\cdot\|_*))}^{p'/p} \quad \text{for every } t \in (0,1].$$

Thus

$$\lim_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}} F(\mu) \geq \limsup_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{F(v_t^{\varepsilon}) - F(\mu)}{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}(\mu, v_t^{\varepsilon})} \geq \|T\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{B},\mu;(\mathbb{B}^*,\|\cdot\|_*))}^{p'-p'/p} - \frac{C^{1/p}\varepsilon}{\|T\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{B},\mu;(\mathbb{B}^*,\|\cdot\|_*))}^{p'/p}}.$$

Passing to $\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0}$ we obtain the sought inequality and this concludes the proof.

Remark 4.8 Note that the inequality

$$\operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{H}},\mathbb{H}}}F(\mu) \leq \|\mathsf{D}F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu} \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$$

holds even if the Banach space $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\||)$ is non-separable, since separability is not used in the first part of the proof.

Thanks to Proposition 4.7 the following definition is well posed.

Deringer

Definition 4.9 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space. For every $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbb{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$, we define

$$D_p F(\mu, x) := DF_{\psi, \phi}(\mu, x), \quad (\mu, x) \in \overline{\mathcal{D}^p}, \tag{4.12}$$

$$\|\mathbf{D}_p F[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu} := \|\mathbf{D} F_{\psi,\phi}[\mu]\|_{\mu,p'}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \tag{4.13}$$

where $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\psi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\phi \in (C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))^N$ are such that $F = \psi \circ L_{\phi}$, and \mathcal{D}^p is as in Remark 4.5.

4.2 The density result in $(\mathbb{R}^d, \|\cdot\|)$ for any norm

In this whole subsection (apart from Theorem 4.15) we focus again on a finite dimensional Banach space with a sufficiently regular norm. To this aim we fix a dimension $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and a norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathbb{R}^d satisfying (3.3). As we did in Sect. 3.1, we work on the complete and separable metric space $(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$, where $\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}$ is the distance induced by $\|\cdot\|$, and the corresponding $(p, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ -Wasserstein space. To simplify the notation, as we did in Sect. 3.1, in this subsection, we will simply write $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, W_p and $\Gamma_{o,p}$, omitting the dependence on $\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}$. For the rest of this subsection m is a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Recall that for a bounded Lipschitz function $F : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$ the pre-Cheeger energy (cf. (2.9)) associated to m is defined by

$$\mathsf{pCE}_{q}(F) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left(\operatorname{lip}_{W_{p}} F(\mu) \right)^{q} \operatorname{dm}(\mu).$$
(4.14)

Thanks to Proposition 4.7, if *F* is a cylinder function in $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathbb{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$, we have a nice equivalent expression

$$p\mathbf{C}_{q}(F) = \int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \|\mathbf{D}_{p}F[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu}^{q} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu)$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|\mathbf{D}_{p}F(\mu, x)\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \right)^{q/p'} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu), \qquad (4.15)$$

where $\|\cdot\|_*$ is the dual norm induced by $\|\cdot\|$. Notice that $(p\mathbb{E}_q)^{1/q}$ is not simply the L^q - $L^{p'}$ mixed norm of $\mathbb{D}_p F$ in a Bochner space, since the measures μ w.r.t. the inner norm is computed varies, but rather the norm in the direct $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathfrak{m})$ -integral of the Banach spaces $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ (see e.g. [10, 17] or Sect. 5).

We adopt the notation \mathscr{A} : = $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathbb{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and we devote this subsection to the proof of Theorem 4.15. The following Lemmas are the obvious adaptation of [12, Lemma 4.14, Lemma 4.15] and their proofs are the same, and thus omitted.

Lemma 4.10 Let F_n be a sequence of functions in $D^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), W_p, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathfrak{m})$ such that F_n and $|DF_n|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}$ are uniformly bounded in every bounded set of $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and let F, G be Borel functions in $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathfrak{m}), G$ nonnegative. If

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(\mu) = F(\mu), \quad \limsup_{n \to \infty} |DF_n|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \le G(\mu) \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{ -a.e. in } \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \quad (4.16)$$

then $F \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), W_p, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ and $|DF|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}} \leq G$.

Lemma 4.11 Let $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be satisfying the growth conditions

$$\phi(x) \ge A \|x\|^p - B, \|\nabla \phi(x)\|_* \le C(\|x\|^{p-1} + 1) \text{ for every } x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$
 (4.17)

for given positive constants A, B, C > 0 and let $\zeta : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C¹ nondecreasing function whose derivative has compact support. Then the function $F(\mu) := \zeta \circ L_{\phi}$ is Lipschitz in $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, it belongs to $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), W_p, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$, and

$$|DF|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \leq \zeta'(\mathsf{L}_{\phi}(\mu)) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|\nabla\phi\|_*^{p'} d\mu\right)^{1/p'}.$$
(4.18)

Let $\kappa \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\operatorname{supp} \kappa = \overline{B(0, 1)}$ (here B(0, 1) is the unit *d*-dimensional Euclidean ball), $\kappa(x) \ge 0$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $\kappa(x) > 0$ for every $x \in B(0, 1)$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa d\mathcal{L}^d = 1$ and $\kappa(-x) = \kappa(x)$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let us define, for every $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, the standard mollifiers

$$\kappa_{\varepsilon}(x) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon^d} \kappa(x/\varepsilon), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Given $\sigma \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, we define

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon} := \sigma * \kappa_{\varepsilon}.$$

Notice that $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $W_p(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \sigma) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$. Moreover, if $\sigma, \sigma' \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have

$$W_p(\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \sigma_{\varepsilon}') \le W_p(\sigma, \sigma') \quad \text{for every } 0 < \varepsilon < 1$$

$$(4.19)$$

and it is easy to check that, if we set

$$C_{\varepsilon} := \mathsf{m}_{p}(\kappa_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{L}^{d}), \tag{4.20}$$

then we have

$$\mathbf{m}_p(\mu_{\varepsilon}) \le \mathbf{m}_p(\mu) + C_{\varepsilon}$$
 for every $0 < \varepsilon < 1.$ (4.21)

Definition 4.12 Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. We define the continuous functions $W_{\nu}, W_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}, F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon} : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$W_{\nu}(\mu) := W_{p}(\mu, \nu), \quad W_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu) := W_{\nu}(\mu_{\varepsilon}), \quad F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu) := \frac{1}{p} (W_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu))^{p}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$

The proof of the following proposition follows the one of [12, Proposition 4.17] but since the exponent p may be different from 2, the estimates are more complicated and thus reported in full.

Proposition 4.13 Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, δ , R > 0, let $v \in \mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\operatorname{supp} v = \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)}$ and $v \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \ge \delta \mathcal{L}^d \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, and let $\zeta : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^1 nondecreasing function whose derivative has compact support. Then

$$|D(\zeta \circ F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon})|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \leq \zeta'(F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu))W_{p}^{p-1}(\nu,\mu_{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(4.22)

Proof Let $\mathcal{G}: = \{\mu^h\}_{h \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a dense and countable set in $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and let us set, for every $h \in \mathbb{N}, \varphi_h: = \Phi(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}^h), \varphi_h^*: = \Phi^*(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}^h)$ (see Theorem 3.1),

$$a_h := \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \varphi_h \mathrm{d}\nu, \quad u_h := \varphi_h^* + a_h, \quad G_k(\mu) := \max_{1 \le h \le k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

Notice that, by (3.11), $u_h \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu_{\varepsilon})$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Claim 1 It holds

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} G_k(\mu) = F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Proof of claim 1 Since $G_{k+1}(\mu) \ge G_k(\mu)$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} G_k(\mu) = \sup_k G_k(\mu) = \sup_h \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h d\mu_{\varepsilon} \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

By the definition of φ_h and φ_h^* we have, for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $h \in \mathbb{N}$, that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h d\mu_{\varepsilon} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi_h^* d\mu_{\varepsilon} + \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \varphi_h(y) d\nu \\ &\leq \frac{1}{p} W_p^p(\mu_{\varepsilon},\nu) \\ &= F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu). \end{split}$$

This proves that $\sup_k G_k(\mu) \leq F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Clearly, if $\mu \in \mathcal{G}$, this is an equality. By (3.16) there exists a constant $D_{p,R}$ such that, for every $h \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, it holds

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}' = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi_h^* \mathrm{d}(\mu_{\varepsilon} - \mu_{\varepsilon}') \\ &\leq D_{p,R} W_p(\mu_{\varepsilon}, \mu_{\varepsilon}') (1 + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu_{\varepsilon}) + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu_{\varepsilon}')) \\ &\leq D_{p,R} W_p(\mu, \mu') (1 + 2C_{\varepsilon} + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu) + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu')), \end{split}$$

where we used (4.19) and (4.21). We hence deduce that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\left|G_{k}(\mu) - G_{k}(\mu')\right| \leq D_{p,R}W_{p}(\mu,\mu')(1+2C_{\varepsilon} + \mathsf{m}_{p}(\mu) + \mathsf{m}_{p}(\mu'))$$

for every $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$ (4.23)

Choosing $\mu' \in \mathcal{G}$ and passing to the limit as $k \to +\infty$ we get from (4.23) that

$$\left| \lim_{k \to +\infty} G_k(\mu) - F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu') \right| \leq D_{p,R} W_p(\mu, \mu') (1 + 2C_{\varepsilon} + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu) + \mathsf{m}_p(\mu'))$$

for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), \ \mu' \in \mathcal{G}.$

Using the density of \mathcal{G} and the continuity of $\mu' \mapsto F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu')$ we deduce that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} G_k(\mu) = F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

proving the first claim.

Claim 2 If $H_k := \zeta \circ G_k$ and $u_{h,\varepsilon} := u_h * \kappa_{\varepsilon}$, it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathsf{D}H_k \right|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}^{p'}(\mu) &\leq \left(\zeta'(G_k(\mu)) \right)^{p'} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla u_{h,\varepsilon} \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu = \left(\zeta'(G_k(\mu)) \right)^{p'} \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla(\varphi_h^* * \kappa_{\varepsilon}) \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu, \end{aligned}$$

for m-a.e. $\mu \in B_h^k$, where $B_h^k := \{\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d) : G_k(\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h d\mu_{\varepsilon}\}, h \in \{1, \dots, k\}.$

Proof of claim 2 For every $h \in \mathbb{N}$, (3.13) and (3.12) (also using (3.15)) yield

$$u_{h,\varepsilon}(x) \ge \frac{1}{4p} \|x\|^p + a_h - A_{p,R,\varepsilon}, \quad \|\nabla u_{h,\varepsilon}(x)\|_* \le A_{p,R,\varepsilon}(1 + \|x\|^{p-1})$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, (4.24)

where $A_{p,R,\varepsilon} > 0$ is a constant depending only on p, R, ε . Since the map $\ell_h : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as $\ell_h(\mu) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_h d\mu_{\varepsilon}$ satisfies

$$\ell_h(\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (u_h * \kappa_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}\mu = \mathsf{L}_{u_{h,\varepsilon}}(\mu), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

Lemma 4.11 and the above estimates yield

$$|\mathrm{D}(\zeta \circ \ell_h)|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \leq \zeta'(\ell_h(\mu)) \Big(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|\nabla u_{h,\varepsilon}\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu\Big)^{1/p'} \text{ for } \mathfrak{m} \text{ -a.e. } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Since H_k can be written as

$$H_k(\mu) = \max_{1 \le h \le k} (\zeta \circ \ell_h)(\mu), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

we can apply Theorem 2.5 (4) and conclude the proof of the second claim.

Claim 3 For every R > 0 there exists a constant C > 0 independent of h such that

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\|\nabla u_{h,\varepsilon}\right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{1/p'} \le C \quad \text{whenever } \mathsf{m}_p(\mu) \le R.$$
(4.25)

Proof of Claim 3 It is sufficient to use (4.24).

Claim 4 Let $(h_n)_n \subset \mathbb{N}$ be an increasing sequence and let $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. If $\lim_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_{h_n} d\mu_{\varepsilon} = F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)$, then

$$\limsup_{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla(\varphi_{h_n}^* \ast \kappa_{\varepsilon}) \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu \leq W_p^p(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}).$$

Proof of claim 4 Since

$$\left\|\nabla(\varphi_{h_n}^* \ast \kappa_{\varepsilon})(x)\right\|_*^{p'} \le \left(\left\|\nabla\varphi_{h_n}^*\right\|_*^{p'} \ast \kappa_{\varepsilon}\right)(x) \quad \text{for every } x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

we get that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla(\varphi_{h_n}^* \ast \kappa_{\varepsilon}) \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\left\| \nabla \varphi_{h_n}^* \right\|_*^{p'} \ast \kappa_{\varepsilon} \right) \mathrm{d}\mu \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla \varphi_{h_n}^* \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$

It is then enough to prove that

$$\limsup_{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left\| \nabla \varphi_{h_n}^* \right\|_*^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} \le W_p^p(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}).$$
(4.26)

Let us set $\phi_n := \varphi_{h_n}$ and $\psi_n := \varphi_{h_n}^*$ and let us extract a (unrelabeled) subsequence such that the lim sup in the statement of the claim is achieved as a limit. Since $\phi_n - \frac{1}{p} ||x||^p \le 0$ for

every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\nu \bigsqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \ge \delta \mathcal{L}^d \bigsqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^d = \int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \left(\phi_n(x) - \frac{1}{p} \|x\|^p \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^d(x) + \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{m}_p^p(\mathcal{L}^d \sqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)) \\ \geq \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}\nu - \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{m}_p^p(\nu \sqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)) + \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{m}_p^p(\mathcal{L}^d \sqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)).$$
(4.27)

By the convergence of $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_{h_n} d\mu_{\varepsilon}$ to $F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)$, we can find $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi_n \,\mathrm{d}\nu \ge -1 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi_n \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} \ge -1 - K_{p,R} \left(1 + \mathsf{m}_p^p(\mu_{\varepsilon})\right) \quad \text{for every } n \ge N,$$

where the last inequality comes from (3.11). Combining the above inequality with (4.27) we get that there exists some I > 0 such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi_n \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^d \ge -I \quad \text{for every } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.28)

We can thus apply Proposition 3.4 and obtain the existence of a subsequence $j \mapsto n(j)$ and two locally Lipschitz functions ϕ and ψ such that $\phi_{n(j)} \rightarrow \phi$ locally uniformly in $\mathbb{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$, $\psi_{n(j)} \rightarrow \psi$ locally uniformly in \mathbb{R}^d and (3.19) holds. Being the inequality

$$\phi_{n(j)}(x) + \psi_{n(j)}(y) \le \frac{1}{p} \|x - y\|^p \quad \text{for every } (x, y) \in \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \times \mathbb{R}^d$$

satisfied for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we can pass to the limit and obtain point (i) in Theorem 3.1 for the pair (ϕ, ψ) . Since $\phi_n(x) \le \frac{1}{n} ||x||^p$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we get by Fatou's lemma that

$$-I \leq \limsup_{j} \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi_{n(j)} \, \mathrm{d}\nu \leq \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \limsup_{j} \phi_{n(j)}(x) \, \mathrm{d}\nu(x)$$
$$= \int_{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0,R)} \phi \, \mathrm{d}\nu \leq \frac{1}{p} \mathsf{m}_{p}^{p}(\nu).$$
(4.29)

This in particular gives that $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R), \nu)$. By (3.11) we have that $|\psi(y)| \leq K_{p,R}(1+||y||^p)$ so that $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ and we can also apply the dominated convergence theorem and obtain that

$$\lim_{j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi_{n(j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}.$$
(4.30)

Combining (4.29) with (4.30) and using that $\lim_{n \to \mathbb{R}^d} u_{h_n} d\mu_{\varepsilon} = F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)$, we get point (ii) in Theorem 3.1 for the pair (ϕ, ψ) , so that, by the first part of Theorem 3.1, we conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \|\nabla \psi\|_*^{p'} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} = W_p^p(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}).$$

Then, since by (3.12) there exists a constant $K_{p,R} > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla\psi_{n(j)}(y)\|_{*}^{p'} &\leq K_{p,R}^{p'}(1+\|y\|^{p-1})^{p'} \leq 2^{p'}K_{p,R}^{p'}(1+\|y\|^{p}) \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d},\mu) \\ \text{for } \mathcal{L}^{d} \text{ -a.e. } y \in \mathbb{R}^{d}, \end{aligned}$$

🖉 Springer

and for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we can use the dominated convergence theorem to conclude that

$$\limsup_{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|\nabla \psi_{n}\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} = \lim_{j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|\nabla \psi_{n(j)}\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \|\nabla \psi\|_{*}^{p'} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon} = W_{p}^{p}(\nu, \mu_{\varepsilon}).$$

This concludes the proof of the fourth claim.

Claim 5 It holds

$$\limsup_{k} |\mathbf{D}H_{k}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \leq \zeta'(F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu))W_{p}^{p/p'}(\nu,\mu_{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{m} \text{ -a.e. } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$

Proof of claim 5 Let $B \subset \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be defined as

$$B:=\bigcap_k \bigcup_{h=1}^k A_h^k,$$

where A_h^k is the full m-measure subset of B_h^k where claim 2 holds. Notice that B has full m-measure. Let $\mu \in B$ be fixed and let us pick an increasing sequence $k \mapsto h_k$ such that

$$G_k(\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u_{h_k} \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}.$$

By claim 1 we know that $G_n(\mu) \to F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ so that we can apply claim 4 and conclude that

$$(\zeta'(F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)))^{p'}W_{p}^{p}(\nu,\mu_{\varepsilon}) \geq \limsup_{k} (\zeta'(G_{k}(\mu)))^{p'} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left\| \nabla(\varphi_{h_{k}}^{*} * \kappa_{\varepsilon}) \right\|_{*}^{p'} d\mu$$

By claim 2, the right hand side is greater than $\limsup_{k} |DH_{k}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}^{p'}(\mu)$; this concludes the proof of the fifth claim.

Eventually, we observe that by Claim 1

$$(\zeta \circ F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon})(\mu) = \lim_{k \to \infty} (\zeta \circ G_k)(\mu) = \lim_{k \to \infty} H_k(\mu) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
(4.31)

Moreover, it is clear that

$$(\zeta'(F_{\nu}^{\varepsilon}(\mu)))^{p'}W_{p}^{p}(\nu,\mu_{\varepsilon})$$

is uniformly bounded. We can then combine the expression of Claim 2, the uniform estimate of Claim 3, the limit of Claim 5 with Lemma 4.10 to get (4.22).

Precisely as in [12, Corollary 4.18] we get the following corollary (its proof can be easily adapted and thus omitted).

Corollary 4.14 Let $v \in \mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\operatorname{supp} v = \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)}$ and $v \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \ge \delta \mathcal{L}^d \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ for some $\delta, R > 0$. Then

$$|DW_{\nu}|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}}(\mu) \leq 1 \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d}). \tag{4.32}$$

The following theorem provides the main result of this subsection. Recall the notation for Wasserstein spaces as in Sect. 3 and the definition of density in q-energy as in Definition 2.7.

Theorem 4.15 Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$, let $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ be (not necessarily conjugate) fixed exponents and let $\|\cdot\|$ be any norm on \mathbb{R}^d . Then the algebra $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ is dense in q-energy in $D^{1,p}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$, where $\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}$ is the distance induced by the norm $\|\cdot\|$. **Proof** Let us first suppose that $\|\cdot\|$ is a norm as in (3.3). Then the density result follows by Corollary 4.14 and Theorem 2.9, since the set of $\nu \in \mathcal{P}_p^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that there exist $R, \delta > 0$ for which $\operatorname{supp}(\nu) = \overline{B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)}$ and $\nu \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R) \ge \delta \mathscr{L}^d \sqcup B_{\|\cdot\|}(0, R)$ is dense in $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. This can be seen defining for every $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ the measures

$$\hat{\nu}_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\nu_{\varepsilon} \bigsqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon) + \varepsilon^{d+p+1} \mathcal{L}^d \bigsqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon)}{\nu_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon)) + \varepsilon^{d+p+1} \mathcal{L}^d(\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon))},$$

so that $\hat{v}_{\varepsilon} \to v$ in $\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$, supp $(v) = \overline{\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon)}$ and $\hat{v}^{\varepsilon} \sqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon) \ge \frac{\varepsilon^{d+p+1}}{1+\varepsilon^{d+p+1}\omega_{\varepsilon,d}}\mathscr{L}^{d} \sqcup \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon)$, where $\omega_{\varepsilon,d}$ is the \mathcal{L}^{d} -measure of $\mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/\varepsilon)$.

Let us suppose now that $\|\cdot\|$ is any norm on \mathbb{R}^d . We can construct a sequence of norms $(\|\cdot\|_k)_k$ on \mathbb{R}^d satisfying (3.3) and such that

$$||x||_k \uparrow ||x||$$
 for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

For example we can take as $\|\cdot\|_k$ the norm whose unit ball is given by the set

$$C_k := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \frac{\|x\| + |x|^2/k}{1 + \eta^2/k} \right\} + \mathbf{B}_{\|\cdot\|}(0, 1/k),$$

where $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^d and $\eta > 0$ is a constant such that $|x| \leq \eta ||x||$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Notice that by construction C_k is strictly convex, it contains the $||\cdot||$ -unit ball and it satisfies the 1/k-ball condition so that its boundary is C^{1,1} (see [9, Definition 1.1 and Theorem 1.8]). Also by construction we have that $||\cdot||_k \uparrow ||\cdot||$ as $k \to +\infty$.

Let us denote by $W_{p,k}$ the $(p, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_k})$ -Wasserstein distance on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d) = \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) = \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_k})$. We have that

$$W_{p,k}(\mu,\nu) \uparrow W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\mathbb{I},\mathbb{I}}}(\mu,\nu)$$
 for every $\mu,\nu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$

and, being the norms $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_k$ equivalent, then the distances $W_{p,k}$ and $W_{p,d_{\|\cdot\|}}$ induce the same topology on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $F \in \operatorname{Lip}_b(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), W_{p,d_{\|\cdot\|}})$; by [22, Proposition 3.3] (see also [1, Theorem 9.1]), we can find a subsequence $(k_n)_n$ such that, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $F_n \in \operatorname{Lip}_b(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d), W_{p,k_n})$ such that³

$$\|F - F_n\|_{L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d),\mathfrak{m})} < 1/n, \quad \mathsf{pCE}_{q,W_{p,k_n}}(F_n) \le \mathsf{pCE}_{q,W_{p,\mathbf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}}(F) + 1/n.$$

Since $\mathscr{A} = \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathbb{C}^1_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$ is dense in *q*-energy in $D^{1,p}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{k_n}}), W_{p,k_n}, \mathfrak{m})$ by the first part of the proof, we have that

$$\mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A},W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}}(F_n) \leq \mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A},W_{p,k_n}}(F_n) \leq \mathsf{pCE}_{q,W_{p,k_n}}(F_n) \leq \mathsf{pCE}_{q,W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}}(F)$$

+1/n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Passing to the \liminf_n we get that

$$\mathbb{C}_{q,\mathscr{A},W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|.\|}}}(F) \leq \mathsf{p}\mathbb{C}_{q,W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|.\|}}}(F),$$

which gives the desired density, since this entails equality of the Cheeger energies and thus of the minimal relaxed gradients (see also Remark 2.8). \Box

Arguing precisely as in [12, Proposition 4.19], it is not difficult to see that we can obtain the density result also for smaller algebras of functions on \mathbb{R}^d .

³ Here we are adding a subscript both in the notation for the Cheeger and the pre-Cheeger energy to specify the distance w.r.t. which they are computed.

Proposition 4.16 Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$, $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ and let $\|\cdot\|$ be any norm on \mathbb{R}^d . Let $\mathscr{E} \subset C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be an algebra of functions such that for every $f \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ there exists a sequence $(f_n)_n \subset \mathscr{E}$ such that

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f_n| + |\nabla f_n| < +\infty, \quad \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (|f_n - f| + |\nabla f_n - \nabla f|) \, d\mu$$

= 0 for m -a.e. $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}).$

Then the algebra $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathscr{E})$ is dense in *q*-energy in $D^{1,p}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$.

Remark 4.17 A possible choice for & in Proposition 4.16 is

$$\mathscr{P}_{d,C} := \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d) : \varphi \big|_{[-C,C]^d} \text{ is a polynomial} \right\}$$
(4.33)

where C > 0 is any positive constant.

4.3 The density result in (X, d)

In this subsection we prove the density in energy of suitable cylinder functions for an arbitrary separable metric space (X, d). We consider on (X, d) a sequence $\Phi := (\phi_k)_k \subset \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ such that

$$d(x, y) = \sup_{\phi \in \Phi} |\phi(x) - \phi(y)| = \sup_{k} |\phi_{k}(x) - \phi_{k}(y)| \quad \text{for all } x, y \in (X, \mathsf{d}), \quad (4.34)$$

and we define

$$\Phi(d) := \max_{1 \le k \le d} \|\phi_k\|_{\infty}, \quad d \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.35)

We will have to embed (X, d) into $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$ and, for this reason, we need to fix some related notation.

We consider the family of maps $E := \{e_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \subset (\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}))^*$, where for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$, e_i is defined as

$$e_i : \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}) \to \mathbb{R}, \quad e_i((x_k)_k) = x_i \quad \text{for every } (x_k)_k \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}).$$

We consider the collection of maps $\pi_d : \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}) \to \mathbb{R}^d, d \in \mathbb{N}$, given by

$$\pi^d((x_k)_k) := (e_1((x_k)_k), \dots, e_d((x_k)_k) = (x_1, \dots, x_d), \text{ for every } (x_k)_k \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}). (4.36)$$

The adjoint map $\pi^{d*} : \mathbb{R}^d \to (\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}))^*$ is given by

$$\pi^{d*}(y_1, \cdots, y_d) := \sum_{i=1}^d y_i e_i, \text{ for every } (y_1, \dots, y_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
 (4.37)

We say that a function $\phi : \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}) \to \mathbb{R}$ belongs to $C_{h}^{1}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}), E, \Phi)$ if it can be written as

$$\phi := \varphi \circ \pi^d \quad \text{for some } d \in \mathbb{N}, \ \varphi \in \mathscr{P}_{d,\Phi(d)}, \tag{4.38}$$

where $\mathscr{P}_{d,\Phi(d)}$ is as in (4.33) and $\Phi(d)$ is as in (4.35). Clearly $\phi \in C_b^1(\ell^\infty(\mathbb{N}))$ and its gradient $\nabla \phi$ can be written as

$$\nabla \phi = \pi^{d*} \circ \nabla \varphi \circ \pi^d, \quad \nabla \phi(x) = \sum_{i=1}^d \partial_i \varphi(\pi^d(x)) e_i, \quad x \in \ell^\infty(\mathbb{N}).$$
(4.39)

On $\mathcal{P}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}))$, we consider the algebra of cylinder functions $\mathscr{A}' := \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})), \mathbf{C}_{b}^{1}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}), E, \Phi))$ (recall Definition 4.1). For every $F \in \mathscr{A}'$ we can find $N \in \mathbb{N}$, a function $\psi \in \mathbf{C}_{b}^{1}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}), E, \Phi)$, $n = 1, \dots, N$, such that

$$F(\mu) = (\psi \circ \mathsf{L}_{\phi})(\mu) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})).$$
(4.40)

It is also easy to check that a function F belongs to \mathscr{A}' if and only if there exists $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\tilde{F} \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathscr{P}_{d, \Phi(d)})$ such that

$$F(\mu) = \tilde{F}(\pi^d_{\sharp}(\mu)) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})), \tag{4.41}$$

so that, by Proposition 4.7, we have

$$\mathcal{D}_p F(\mu, x) = \pi^{d*} \Big(\mathcal{D}_p \tilde{F}(\pi^d_{\sharp} \mu, \pi^d(x)) \Big), \tag{4.42}$$

$$\|\mathbf{D}_p F[\mu]\|_{*,p',\mu} = \|\mathbf{D}_p \tilde{F}[\pi_{\sharp}^d \mu]\|_{*,p',\pi_{\sharp}^d \mu} = \operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{d,\infty}}}} \tilde{F}(\pi_{\sharp}^d \mu),$$
(4.43)

where we are using $\|\cdot\|_{*,\infty}$, the dual norm of $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ (the norm in $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$), for $D_p F[\mu](x)$, $x \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$, and the norm $\|y\|_{*,d} := \|\pi^{d,*}(y)\|_{*,\infty}$ for $D_p \tilde{F}[\pi_{\sharp}^d \mu](y)$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Notice that $\|\cdot\|_{*,d}$ is the 1-norm on \mathbb{R}^d ; in particular, the dual norm $\|\cdot\|_{d,\infty}$ on \mathbb{R}^d of $\|\cdot\|_{*,d}$ is the ∞ -norm on \mathbb{R}^d . The proof of the following theorem combines the finite dimensional projections technique of [12, Theorem 6.4] with a standard embedding strategy.

Theorem 4.18 Let (X, d) be a complete and separable metric space and let $\{\phi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \text{Lip}_b(X, d)$ be a countable set of functions such that

$$\mathsf{d}(x, y) = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} |\phi_k(x) - \phi_k(y)|, \quad \text{for every } x, y \in X,$$

and let $\mathscr{E} \subset \operatorname{Lip}_b(X, \mathsf{d})$ be the smallest unital subalgebra of functions on X containing $\{\phi_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. Finally, let $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ be (not necessarily conjugate) fixed exponents and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d})$; then the algebra of cylinder functions generated by \mathscr{E} , $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(X), \mathscr{E})$, is dense in q-energy in $D^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}}, \mathfrak{m})$.

Proof Let us consider the map $\iota : X \to \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$ defined as

$$\iota(x) = (\phi_k(x))_k, \quad x \in X.$$

Then ι is an isometry between the metric spaces (X, d) and $(\iota(X), \|\cdot\|')$, where $\|\cdot\|'$ is the restriction to $\iota(X)$ of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ in $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$. This of course implies that $\mathcal{J} \colon \mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}) \to \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'})$ defined as

$$\mathcal{J}(\mu) := \iota_{\sharp} \mu, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}),$$

is an isometry between the metric spaces $\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d})$ and $\mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'})$. If we set \mathscr{A} : = $\mathcal{J}^*(\mathscr{A}')$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{m}}$: = $\mathcal{J}_{\mathfrak{l}}\mathfrak{m}$, where

$$\mathcal{J}^*F = F \circ \mathcal{J}, \quad F \in \mathscr{A}',$$

then the spaces $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(X, \mathsf{d}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}}, \mathfrak{m}; \mathscr{A})$ and $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{m}}; \mathscr{A}')$ are isomorphic (see [25, Theorem 5.3.3]). Moreover we can set that $\mathscr{A} \subset \mathscr{E}$ so that it is enough to prove that the algebra \mathscr{A}' is dense in *q*-energy in $D^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{m}})$. To this aim, by Theorem 2.9, it suffices to fix $\nu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'})$ and prove that the function

$$F(\mu) := W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}}(\nu,\mu) \quad \text{satisfies} \quad |\mathsf{D}F|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}'} \le 1 \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{ -a.e.}. \tag{4.44}$$

🖉 Springer

We split the proof in two steps.

Step 1: it is sufficient to prove that, for every $h \in \mathbb{N}$, the function $F_h : \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}) \to \mathbb{R}$

$$F_h(\mu) := W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{\infty}}}(\hat{\pi}^h_{\sharp}\nu, \hat{\pi}^h_{\sharp}\mu) \quad \text{satisfies} \quad |\mathsf{D}F_h|_{\star,q,\mathscr{A}'} \le 1 \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{-a.e.},$$
(4.45)

where $\hat{\pi}^h : \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}) \to \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$ is defined as

$$\hat{\pi}^{h}((x_k)_k) := (x_1, \dots, x_k, 0, \dots), \quad (x_k)_k \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N}).$$

In fact, using the continuity property of the Wasserstein distance, it is clear that for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'})$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} F_h(\mu) = F(\mu), \tag{4.46}$$

so that it is enough to apply Theorem 2.5(1)-(3) to obtain (4.44).

Step 2: Let $h \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed and let us denote by $W_{p,h}$ the Wasserstein distance on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^h, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}})$, where $\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}$ is the ∞ norm on \mathbb{R}^h . It is easy to check that

$$W_{p,h}(\pi^h_{\sharp}\mu_0,\pi^h_{\sharp}\mu_1) = W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{\infty}}}(\hat{\pi}^h_{\sharp}\mu_0,\hat{\pi}^h_{\sharp}\mu_1) \quad \text{for every } \mu_0,\mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X),\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}).$$

Thus, if we define the function $\tilde{F}_h : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^h, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}}) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\tilde{F}_h(\mu)$$
: = $W_{p,h}(\pi^h_{\sharp}\nu,\mu)$

we get that

$$F_h(\mu) = \tilde{F}_h(\pi^h_{\#}\mu).$$

We also introduce the measure \mathfrak{m}_h which is the push-forward of \mathfrak{m} through the (1-Lipschitz) map $P^h : \mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}) \to \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^h, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}})$ defined as $P^h(\mu) := \pi^h_{\sharp} \mu$. By Theorem 4.15 applied to $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^h, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}}}, \mathfrak{m}_h)$, we can find a sequence of cylinder functions $\tilde{F}_{h,n} \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^h), \mathscr{P}_{h,\Phi(h)}), n \in \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$\tilde{F}_{h,n} \to \tilde{F}_{h} \text{ in } \mathfrak{m}_{h} \text{ -measure,}$$

$$\lim_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}}}} \tilde{F}_{h,n} \to g_{h} \text{ in } L^{q}(\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{h},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|_{h,\infty}}),\mathfrak{m}_{h}) \text{ with } g_{h} \leq \mathfrak{1}\mathfrak{m}_{h} \text{ -a.e.} (4.48)$$

We thus consider the functions $F_{h,n} \in \mathscr{A}'$ defined as in (4.41) by

$$F_{h,n}(\mu) := \tilde{F}_{h,n}(\pi^h_{\sharp}\mu) = \tilde{F}_{h,n}(P^h(\mu)) \quad \text{for every } \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\iota(X)).$$
(4.49)

Since for every $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\mathfrak{m}\Big(\big\{\mu:|F_{h,n}(\mu)-F_{h}(\mu)|>\varepsilon\big\}\Big)=\mathfrak{m}\Big(\big\{\mu:|\tilde{F}_{h,n}(P^{h}(\mu))-\tilde{F}_{h}(P^{h}(\mu))|>\varepsilon\big\}\Big)$$
$$=\mathfrak{m}_{h}\Big(\big\{\mu:|\tilde{F}_{h,n}(\mu)-\tilde{F}_{h}(\mu)|>\varepsilon\big\}\Big),$$

(4.47) yields that $F_{h,n} \to F_h$ in m-measure as $n \to \infty$.

On the other hand, (4.43) and Remark 4.8 yield

$$\operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}}}F_{h,n}(\mu) \leq \operatorname{lip}_{W_{p,h}}\tilde{F}_{h,n}(P^{h}(\mu))$$

so that, up to a unrelabeled subsequence, we have

$$\lim_{W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'}}} F_{h,n} \rightharpoonup G_h \leq g_h \circ P^h \quad \text{in } L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}),\mathfrak{m})$$

and $g_h \circ P^h \leq 1$ m-a.e. in $\mathcal{P}_p(\iota(X), \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|'})$. By Theorem 2.5(1)-(3), we obtain (4.45), concluding the proof.

Corollary 4.19 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. Then the algebra $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$ is dense in q-energy in $D^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$.

Proof It is enough to consider the functions of the form $\phi_k(x) := \langle x_k^*, x \rangle, x \in \mathbb{B}$, where $\{x_k^*\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a subset of unit sphere in \mathbb{B}^* separating the points in \mathbb{B} . Notice that each ϕ_k belongs to $C_b^1(\mathbb{B})$.

Corollary 4.20 Let (\mathbb{M}, g) be a complete Riemannian manifold and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{M}, \mathsf{d}_g)$, where d_g is the Riemannian distance induced by g. Then the algebra $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{M}), C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{M}))$ is dense in q-energy in $D^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{M}, \mathsf{d}_g), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_g}, \mathfrak{m})$.

Proof It is enough to consider a sequence of functions $(\phi_k)_k \subset C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{M})$ satisfying (4.34) for d_g .

5 Reflexivity, uniform convexity and Clarkson's inequalities

The aim of this section is to study how some properties of a Banach space (or its dual) pass to the Wasserstein Sobolev space built on it. In the whole section $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ is a fixed separable Banach space and m is a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathbf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$.

To study the properties of the pre-Cheeger energy as in (4.15) we will use the concept of L^q -direct integral of Banach spaces ([10, 17]) (see also the related notion of Banach bundle [23]), that we introduce here briefly in the form that it is best suited to our needs. Let \mathcal{V} be the vector space of functions

$$\mathscr{V}:=\left\{f:\mathbb{B}\to\mathbb{B}^*:f \text{ is measurable and } \int_{\mathbb{B}}\|f(x)\|_*^{p'}\mathrm{d}\mu(x)<+\infty \text{ for }\mathfrak{m}\text{ -a.e. }\mu\in\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})\right\}$$

It is not difficult to check that, for every $f \in \mathcal{V}$, the map $M_f : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

$$M_f(\mu) := \|f\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{B},\mu;(\mathbb{B}^*,\|\cdot\|_*))}, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}),$$

is measurable. Let us denote by $\|\cdot\|_{*,p',\mu}$ the $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ -norm on the completion of $\mathscr{V}_{\mu} := \mathscr{V}/\sim_{\mu}$, where \sim_{μ} is the equivalence relation of the equality μ -a.e.. We say that $s : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \to \bigsqcup_{\mu} \mathscr{V}_{\mu}$ (i.e. $s(\mu) \in \mathscr{V}_{\mu}$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$) is a simple function if there exist a finite measurable partition of $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$, $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^N$, and values $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^N \subset \mathscr{V}$ such that $s(\mu) = \sum_{k=1}^N \chi_{A_k}(\mu) f_k$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. A function $G : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \to \bigsqcup_{\mu} \mathscr{V}_{\mu}$ is said to be Bochner measurable if there exists a sequence of simple functions $(s_k)_k$ such that $\|G(\mu) - s_k(\mu)\|_{*,p',\mu} \to 0$ for m-a.e. $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. The direct integral of $(\mathscr{V}_{\mu})_{\mu}$ with respect to m is the vector space of Bochner measurable functions $G : \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \to \bigsqcup_{\mu} \mathscr{V}_{\mu}$ modulo equivalence m-a.e. and it is denoted by $\int_{\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\bigoplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} \mathsf{dm}(\mu)$. The L^q direct integral $\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\bigoplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} \mathsf{dm}(\mu)\right)_{L^q}$ of $(\mathscr{V}_{\mu})_{\mu}$ with respect to m is the subspace of $\int_{\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\bigoplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} \mathsf{dm}(\mu)$ consisting of those functions G such that the (measurable) map $\mu \mapsto \|G(\mu)\|_{*,p',\mu}$ is in $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$. convex), then $\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\oplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} d\mathfrak{m}(\mu)\right)_{L^q}$ is reflexive (resp. uniformly convex). Finally, if $F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$, then $D_p F \in \left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\oplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} d\mathfrak{m}(\mu)\right)_{L^q}$.

Proof The completeness property can be found in [10, Proposition 3.2] (see also [17] where the notion of direct integral was introduced for the first time).

If $(\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$ is uniformly convex, then we can use [15, Theorem 2.2], together with the fact that $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$ is uniformly convex and that the modulus of convexity of \mathscr{V}_{μ} is larger than the one of $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|))$, being \mathscr{V}_{μ} just a subspace of the latter, and the fact that the modulus of convexity of the Bochner space $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|))$ does not depend on μ but only on p' and on the modulus of convexity of the uniformly convex space $(\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$.

If \mathbb{B} is reflexive, then also \mathbb{B}^* and thus $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ is reflexive so that we can apply [17, Theorem 6.19], also noting that, obviously, $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$ is reflexive.

Let now $F = \psi \circ \mathsf{L}_{\phi} \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathrm{C}_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{B}))$, with $\psi \in \mathrm{C}_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ and $\phi \in (\mathrm{C}_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{B}))^{N}$, for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$; notice that we are looking at $\mathrm{D}_{p}F$ as the map sending $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ to $\mathrm{D}_{p}[\mu] : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}^{*}$. Of course $\mathrm{D}_{p}F[\mu] \in \mathscr{V}_{\mu}$ for every $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ and it is uniformly bounded. Moreover it is Bochner measurable since, in order to approximate it with simple functions, it is enough to approximate every term of the form $\partial \psi_{n}(\int_{\mathbb{B}} \phi_{1} \mathrm{d} \mu, \dots, \int_{\mathbb{B}} \phi_{N} \mathrm{d} \mu)$ with \mathbb{R} -valued simple function $(s_{k}^{n})_{k}$ on $\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ (which is possible since this map is measurable) so that

$$s_k(\mu) := \sum_{n=1}^N s_k^n(\mu) \nabla \phi_n, \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}),$$

is a sequence of simple functions approximating $D_p F$.

Theorem 5.2 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable reflexive Banach space, let $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ be (not necessarily conjugate) fixed exponents and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. Then the Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ is reflexive.

Proof It is sufficient to provide a linear isometry ι from $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ into a reflexive Banach space. For simplicity let us denote by

$$X := L^{q}(\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m}), \quad Y := \left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\bigoplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu) \right)_{L^{q}}$$

and let us define $G \subset X \times Y$ as the closure in $X \times Y$ (endowed with the norm $||(x, y)||_{X \times Y}^q = ||x||_X^q + ||y||_Y^q$) of

$$\{(F, \mathbf{D}_p F) : F \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))\}.$$

Denoting by $\pi^X : X \times Y \to X$ the projection $\pi^X(x, y) = x$ for every $x \in X$, we define the sections of *G* by

$$\boldsymbol{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}F := \{ G \in Y : (F, G) \in \boldsymbol{G} \}, \quad F \in \pi^{X}(\boldsymbol{G}).$$

Deringer

It is clear that G is closed and convex so that it is also weakly closed; let us show that $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m}) \subset \pi^X(G)$: if $F \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$, by Corollary 4.19, we can find a sequence $(F_n)_n \subset \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$ such that

$$F_n \to F$$
, $\lim_{W_{p,d_{\parallel,\parallel}}} F_n \to |DF|_{\star,q}$ in X.

By Proposition 4.7, we have that $\|D_p F_n\|_Y$ is uniformly bounded so that, by the reflexivity of *Y*, we can find a subsequence of $(F_{n_k})_k$ such that

$$(F_{n_k}, \mathbb{D}_p F_{n_k}) \rightarrow (F, G) \text{ in } X \times Y.$$

This gives that $F \in \pi^X(G)$ and that $||G||_Y \leq \mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F)$. Moreover, if we consider $F \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ and $G \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}F$, then there exists $(F_n)_n \subset \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathsf{C}_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$ such that $(F_n, \mathsf{D}_p F) \to (F, G)$ in $X \times Y$ so that $||G||_Y = \lim_n ||\mathsf{D}_p F_n||_Y = \lim_n \mathsf{p} \mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F_n) \geq \mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F)$ so that

$$\min_{G \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}F} \|G\|_{Y} = \mathbb{C}_{q}^{1/q}(F), \quad F \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m}).$$

We define G_0 : = $G/(\{0\} \times D_m 0)$ with the quotient norm $\|\cdot\|_{Y,0}$: elements of G_0 are equivalence classes $[F] = \{(F, G) : G \in D_m F\}$ and the quotient norm is simply given by

$$\|[F]\|_{Y,0} = \inf_{G \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}F} \left(\|F\|_X^q + \|G\|_Y^q \right)^{1/q} = \left(\|F\|_X^q + \min_{G \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}F} \|G\|_Y^q \right)^{1/q} \\ = \|F\|_{H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})}.$$

The linear isometry is thus given by $\iota : H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m}) \to G_0$ defined as

$$\iota(F) = [F], \quad F \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m}).$$

Since closed subspaces of reflexive spaces are reflexive and quotients of reflexive spaces are reflexive, G_0 is reflexive and this concludes the proof.

The next result [31, Lemma 2] provides a quantitative version of the uniform convexity property that will pass from the pre-Cheeger energy to the Cheeger energy.

Proposition 5.3 Let $(\mathcal{W}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{W}})$ be a Banach space. Then $(\mathcal{W}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{W}})$ is uniformly convex if and only if for every $t \in (1, +\infty)$ there exists a strictly increasing and continuous function $g_t : [0, 2] \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$ such that

$$\left\| \frac{x+y}{2} \right\|_{\mathscr{W}}^{t} + \left(\|x\|_{\mathscr{W}} \vee \|y\|_{\mathscr{W}} \right)^{t} g_{t} \left(\frac{\|x-y\|_{\mathscr{W}}}{\|x\|_{\mathscr{W}} \vee \|y\|_{\mathscr{W}}} \right) \leq \frac{1}{2} \|x\|_{\mathscr{W}}^{t} + \frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{\mathscr{W}}^{t}$$
for every $x, y \in \mathscr{W}$.

Theorem 5.4 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space such that $(\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$ is uniformly convex, let $p, q \in (1, +\infty)$ be (not necessarily conjugate) fixed exponents and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. Then the Sobolev space $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ is uniformly convex.

Proof By the uniform convexity of $\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})}^{\bigoplus} \mathscr{V}_{\mu} \mathrm{dm}(\mu)\right)_{L^{q}}$ provided by Proposition 5.1 and using Proposition 5.3, we have that for every $t \in (1, +\infty)$ there exists a continuous and

strictly increasing function $g_t : [0, 2] \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$ such that

$$\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}\left(\frac{1}{2}(F+G)\right)^{t/q} + \left(\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{1/q}(F) \lor \mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{1/q}(G)\right)^{t} g_{t}\left(\frac{\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{1/q}(F-G)}{\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{1/q}(F) \lor \mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{1/q}(G)}\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{t/q}(F) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{p}\mathbb{E}_{q}^{t/q}(G) \quad \text{for every } F, G \in \mathfrak{C}\left(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbb{C}_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{B})\right),$$
(5.1)

where we are able to identify the norm in the direct integral and the *q*-th root of the pre-Cheeger energy thanks to Proposition 4.7. If $F, G \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$, thanks to Corollary 4.19, we can find sequences $(F_n)_n, (G_n)_n \subset \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$ such that

$$F_n \to F, \quad G_n \to G \quad \text{in } L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m}), \quad \mathsf{pCE}_q(F_n) \to \mathbb{CE}_q(F), \quad \mathsf{pCE}_q(G_n) \to \mathbb{CE}_q(G).$$

By the lower semicontinuity of the Cheeger energy w.r.t. the L^q convergence and the continuity and monotonicity of g_t , we obtain that (5.1) holds for \mathbb{C}_q instead of $p\mathbb{C}_q$. By Proposition 5.3 we obtain that $\mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}$ is uniformly convex, in the sense that, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that, whenever $F, G \in H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ are such that $\mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F) = \mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(G) = 1$ and $\mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F-G) \ge \varepsilon$, then $\mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}(F+G) < 2(1-\delta(\varepsilon))$. Since the $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}, \mathfrak{m})$ -norm is uniformly convex, the *q*-sum (i.e. the *q*-th root of the sum of the *q*-powers) of it with $\mathbb{C}_q^{1/q}$ is uniformly convex (see e.g. [8, Theorem 1]). This means that the Sobolev norm is uniformly convex and concludes the proof.

Given a separable Banach space $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ and a positive and finite Borel measure \mathfrak{m} on \mathbb{B} , we can consider the measure $D_{\sharp}\mathfrak{m}$ on $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$, where $\mathsf{D} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ is defined as

$$\mathsf{D}(x):=\delta_x, \quad x\in\mathbb{B}.$$

It is immediate to check that, for every $q \in (1, +\infty)$, the Sobolev spaces $H^{1,q}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}, \mathfrak{m})$ and $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{2,\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}}, \mathsf{D}_{\sharp}\mathfrak{m})$ are isomorphic, see also [12, Section 5.2]. Notice that the choice p = 2 is irrelevant, since $\mathsf{D}(\mathbb{B}) \subset \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ for every $p \in [1, +\infty]$. As a consequence of this observation and Theorems 5.2 and 5.4 we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 5.5 Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space, let $q \in (1, +\infty)$ be a fixed exponent, and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on \mathbb{B} . If $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ is reflexive (resp. if $(\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*)$ is uniformly convex), then $H^{1,q}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}, \mathfrak{m})$ is reflexive (resp. uniformly convex).

We remark that the statement regarding reflexivity in the above corollary was already known (see e.g. [25, Corollary 5.3.11]) while the part concerning uniform convexity is new, at least to our knowledge.

5.1 Clarkson's type inequalities

In this subsection we show how one can deduce Clarkson's type inequalities for the Sobolev norm starting from analogous inequalities that are satisfied for the dual norm in the separable Banach space \mathbb{B} . The following inequality was introduced for the first time by [6] and it is a generalization of the classical Clarkson's inequalities [8].

Definition 5.6 Let *V* be a real vector space and let $r, s \in (1, +\infty)$. We say that a functional $\mathcal{J}: V \to [0, +\infty)$ satisfies the (r, s)-Boas inequality ((r, s)-(BI)) in *V* if

$$\left(\mathcal{J}(u+v)^r + \mathcal{J}(u-v)^r\right)^{1/r} \le 2^{1/s'} \left(\mathcal{J}(u)^s + \mathcal{J}(v)^s\right)^{1/s} \quad \text{for every } u, v \in V.$$

Lemma 5.7 Let V be a real vector space, let $q \in (1, +\infty)$ and let $\mathcal{J}_1, \mathcal{J}_2 : V \to [0, +\infty)$ be two functionals satisfying the (r, s)-(BI) in V for some $r, s \in (1, +\infty)$ such that $s \leq q \leq r$. Then the functional $\mathcal{J}: V \to [0, +\infty)$ defined as

$$\mathcal{J}(u) := \left(\mathcal{J}_1(u)^q + \mathcal{J}_2(u)^q \right)^{1/q}, \quad u \in V,$$

satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in V as well.

Proof Let $u, v \in V$; let us set

$$\begin{aligned} a_0 &:= \mathcal{J}_1(u+v), & b_0 &:= \mathcal{J}_1(u-v), & c_0 &:= \mathcal{J}_2(u+v), & d_0 &:= \mathcal{J}_2(u-v), \\ a &:= \mathcal{J}_1(u), & b &:= \mathcal{J}_1(v), & c &:= \mathcal{J}_2(u), & d &:= \mathcal{J}_2(v). \end{aligned}$$

Since \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 satisfy the (r, s)-(BI) in V, we have

$$\left(a_0^r + b_0^r\right)^{1/r} \le 2^{1/s'} \left(a^s + b^s\right)^{1/s},\tag{5.2}$$

$$\left(c_0^r + d_0^r\right)^{1/r} \le 2^{1/s'} \left(c^s + d^s\right)^{1/s}.$$
(5.3)

Then

$$2^{1/s'} \left(\mathcal{J}(u)^{s} + \mathcal{J}(v)^{s} \right)^{1/s} = 2^{1/s'} \left((a^{q} + c^{q})^{s/q} + (b^{q} + d^{q})^{s/q} \right)^{1/s} = 2^{1/s'} \left(((a^{s})^{q/s} + (c^{s})^{q/s})^{s/q} + ((b^{s})^{q/s} + (d^{s})^{q/s})^{s/q} \right)^{1/s} \geq 2^{1/s'} \left((a^{s} + b^{s})^{q/s} + (c^{s} + d^{s})^{q/s} \right)^{1/q} \geq \left((a^{r}_{0} + b^{r}_{0})^{q/r} + (c^{r}_{0} + d^{r}_{0})^{q/r} \right)^{1/q} = \left(\left((a^{q}_{0})^{r/q} + (b^{q}_{0})^{r/q} \right)^{q/r} + \left((c^{q}_{0})^{r/q} + (d^{q}_{0})^{r/q} \right)^{q/r} \right)^{1/q} \geq \left((a^{q}_{0} + c^{q}_{0})^{r/q} + (b^{q}_{0} + d^{q}_{0})^{r/q} \right)^{1/r} = \left(\mathcal{J}(u + v)^{r} + \mathcal{J}(u - v)^{r} \right)^{1/r},$$

where we have used the triangular inequality for the α -norm in \mathbb{R}^2 first with $\alpha = q/s$ (from the second to the third line) and then with $\alpha = r/q$ (from the fifth to the sixth line), and the inequalities (5.2) and (5.3) to pass from the third to the fourth line.

Proposition 5.8 Let (X, d, m) be a Polish metric-measure space, let \mathscr{A} be a separating unital subalgebra of $\operatorname{Lip}_b(X, d)$ satisfying (2.12) and let $q, r, s \in (1, +\infty)$. If $(p\mathbb{E}_q)^{1/q}$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in \mathscr{A} , then $(\mathbb{E}_q)^{1/q}$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in $H^{1,q}(X, d, m)$. If in addition $r' \leq s \leq q \leq r$, then the Sobolev norm in $H^{1,q}(X, d, m)$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI).

Proof The proof that $(\mathbb{C}_q)^{1/q}$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ is the same of [12, Theorem 2.15] for the case r = s = q = 2. If in addition we know that $r' \leq s \leq q \leq r$, then the $L^q(X, \mathfrak{m})$ -norm satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ [6, Theorem 1] so that we can apply Lemma 5.7 and conclude that the Sobolev norm satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in $H^{1,q}(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$.

In the next Proposition 5.9 we show how to deduce the (r, s)-(BI) for the pre-Cheeger energy from the same inequality for the $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ norm. Instead of stating our hypothesis in terms of the validity of a Clarkson's inequality in $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$, we state it directly in terms of the (BI) in $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$: the two notions are different in general, we refer to [16] for the treatment of the relation between them. **Proposition 5.9** Let $(\mathbb{B}, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space and let \mathfrak{m} be a positive and finite Borel measure on $\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$; suppose that there exists (r, s) with $1 < s \leq q \leq r$ such that the $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ -norm satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) (cf. Definition 5.6) in $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. Then the functional $\mathcal{J}: \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C^1_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathbb{B})) \to [0, +\infty)$ defined as

$$\mathcal{J}(F) := (\mathsf{pCE}_q(F))^{1/q}, \quad F \in \mathfrak{C}\big(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B})\big),$$

satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) in $\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), C_b^1(\mathbb{B}))$.

Proof Let $F, G \in \mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}), \mathbb{C}^1_b(\mathbb{B}))$. We denote by $\|\cdot\|_{*,p',\mu}$ the $L^{p'}(\mathbb{B}, \mu; (\mathbb{B}^*, \|\cdot\|_*))$ -norm for $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$ and we set

$$U_{\mu}(x) := \mathbf{D}_{p}F(\mu, x), \quad V_{\mu}(x) := \mathbf{D}_{p}G(\mu, x), \quad (\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}) \times \mathbb{B}.$$

By hypothesis we have

$$\left(\|U_{\mu}+V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{r}+\|U_{\mu}-V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{r}\right)^{1/r} \leq 2^{1/s'} \left(\|U_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{s}+\|V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{s}\right)^{1/s'}$$

for m-a.e. $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})$. Computing the $L^q(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$ -norm on both sides and applying Minkowski inequalities in $L^{q/r}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$ and in $L^{q/s}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), \mathfrak{m})$ (notice that $0 < q/r \le 1$ and $q/s \ge 1$), we get

$$\left(\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})} \|U_{\mu} + V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu) \right)^{r/q} + \left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})} \|U_{\mu} - V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu) \right)^{r/q} \right)^{1/r} \\ \leq 2^{1/s'} \left(\left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})} \|U_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu) \right)^{s/q} + \left(\int_{\mathcal{P}_{p}(\mathbb{B},\mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|})} \|V_{\mu}\|_{*,p',\mu}^{q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}(\mu) \right)^{s/q} \right)^{1/s}$$

i.e.

$$\left(\mathcal{J}(F+G)^r + \mathcal{J}(F-G)^r\right)^{1/r} \le 2^{1/s'} \left(\mathcal{J}(F)^s + \mathcal{J}(G)^s\right)^{1/s}$$

by Proposition 4.7.

Theorem 5.10 In the same hypotheses of Proposition 5.9, assume in addition that $r' \leq s$. Then the Sobolev norm in $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{B}, \mathsf{d}_{\|\cdot\|}), W_{p,\mathbf{d}}, \mathfrak{m})$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI).

Proof This follows combining Proposition 5.8, Corollary 4.19 and Proposition 5.9.

Corollary 5.11 If $\mathbb{B} = \mathbb{R}^d$ for some $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm, then the Sobolev norm in $H^{1,q}(\mathcal{P}_p(\mathbb{R}^d, |\cdot|), W_{p,\mathbf{d}_{|\cdot|}}, \mathfrak{m})$ satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) for every $1 < r' \leq s \leq q, p' \leq r$.

Proof This follows by the fact that the $L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu; (\mathbb{R}^d, |\cdot|))$ -norm satisfies the (r, s)-(BI) for every $1 < r' \le s \le p' \le r$ and Theorem 5.10.

Acknowledgements The author warmly thanks G. Savaré for proposing the problem and for his many valuable suggestions. The author is grateful to E. Pasqualetto for his comments on a first draft of the present paper. The author also gratefully acknowledges the support of the Institute for Advanced Study of the Technical University of Munich, funded by the German Excellence Initiative. The author was also partially financed by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) project F65. The authors is grateful to the anonymous reviewer for their valuable comments.

Funding Open access funding provided by Austrian Science Fund (FWF).

Data Availibility Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Ambrosio, L., Erbar, M., Savaré, G.: Optimal transport, Cheeger energies and contractivity of dynamic transport distances in extended spaces. Nonlinear Anal. 137, 77–134 (2016)
- Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., Savaré, G.: Gradient Flows in Metric Spaces and in the Space of Probability Measures. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich, 2nd edn. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2008)
- Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., Savaré, G.: Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 29(3), 969–996 (2013)
- Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., Savaré, G.: Calculus and heat flow in metric measure spaces and applications to spaces with Ricci bounds from below. Invent. Math. 195(2), 289–391 (2014)
- Björn, A., Björn, J.: Nonlinear Potential Theory on Metric Spaces. EMS Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 17. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich (2011)
- 6. Boas, R.P.: Some uniformly convex spaces. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 46, 304-311 (1940)
- Cheeger, J.: Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces. Geom. Funct. Anal. 9(3), 428–517 (1999)
- 8. Clarkson, J.A.: Uniformly convex spaces. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 40(3), 396-414 (1936)
- Dalphin, J.: Some characterizations of a uniform ball property. In: Congrès SMAI 2013, volume 45 of ESAIM Proc. Surveys, pp. 437–446. EDP Sci, Les Ulis (2014)
- de Jeu, M., Rozendaal, J.: Disintegration of positive isometric group representations on L^p-spaces. Positivity 21(2), 673–710 (2017)
- Figalli, A., Gigli, N.: Local semiconvexity of Kantorovich potentials on non-compact manifolds. ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 17(3), 648–653 (2011)
- Fornasier, M., Sodini, G.E., Savaré, G.: Density of subalgebras of Lipschitz functions in metric Sobolev spaces and applications to Sobolev-Wasserstein spaces. arXiv:2209.00974 (2022)
- 13. Gangbo, W., McCann, R.J.: The geometry of optimal transportation. Acta Math. 177(2), 113–161 (1996)
- Gigli, N.: On the differential structure of metric measure spaces and applications. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 236(1113), vi+91 (2015)
- Hardtke, J.-D.: Some convexity properties in direct integrals and köthe-bochner spaces. arXiv:1709.09532 (2017)
- Hashimoto, K., Kato, M., Takahashi, Y.: Generalized Clarkson's inequalities for Lebesgue-Bochner spaces. Bull. Kyushu Inst. Tech. Math. Natur. Sci., pp. 15–25 (1996)
- Haydon, R., Levy, M., Raynaud, Y.: Randomly normed spaces. Travaux en Cours [Works in Progress], vol. 41. Hermann, Paris (1991)
- Heinonen, J., Koskela, P.: Quasiconformal maps in metric spaces with controlled geometry. Acta Math. 181(1), 1–61 (1998)
- Koskela, P., MacManus, P.: Quasiconformal mappings and Sobolev spaces. Studia Math. 131(1), 1–17 (1998)
- Kriegl, A., Michor, P.W.: The Convenient Setting of Global Analysis. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 53. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1997)
- Lott, J., Villani, C.: Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints (2004)
- Lučić, D., Pasqualetto, E.: Gamma-convergence of Cheeger energies with respect to increasing distances. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 515(1):Paper No. 126415, 10 (2022)
- Lučić, M., Pasqualetto, E., Vojnović, I.: On the reflexivity properties of Banach bundles and Banach modules. arXiv:2205.11608 (2022)
- Santambrogio, F.: Optimal transport for applied mathematicians, Volume 87 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham (2015). Calculus of Variations, PDEs, and Modeling

- Savaré, G.: Sobolev spaces in extended metric-measure spaces. In: New Trends on Analysis and Geometry in Metric Spaces, pp. 117–276. Springer (2022)
- Shanmugalingam, N.: Newtonian spaces: an extension of Sobolev spaces to metric measure spaces. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 16(2), 243–279 (2000)
- 27. Sturm, K.-T.: On the geometry of metric measure spaces. I. Acta Math. 196(1), 65-131 (2006)
- 28. Sturm, K.-T.: On the geometry of metric measure spaces. II. Acta Math. 196(1), 133–177 (2006)
- Villani, C.: Topics in Optimal Transportation. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 58. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2003)
- Villani, C.: Optimal Transport. Old and New. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 338. Springer, Berlin (2009)
- Xu, Z.B., Roach, G.F.: Characteristic inequalities of uniformly convex and uniformly smooth Banach spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 157(1), 189–210 (1991)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.